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Thursday, May 25, 2006


‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:03 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:   Good morning, everyone.  Please be seated.


Today is day 2 of the hearing of application RP-2005‑0052, submitted by Union Gas for an order or orders approving or fixing rates and other charges for the sale, distribution, transmission and storage of gas in their fiscal year 2000.


Today we'll be continuing with the examination of the Union panel on risk management.  We will follow that by examination of the Union panel on rates.  I just wanted to let you know that the Board panel is expecting to hear oral argument in this proceeding next week.  So in order for you to prepare, I wanted to let you know that.


I believe that again today we have Mr. Crockford on the telephone, and I just wanted to inform people of that, as well.


Before we begin, are there any preliminary matters?  


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. SMITH:  One preliminary matter, Madam Chair.  There is  -- I suppose actually two preliminary matters.  My friend, Mr. Buonaguro, had asked for an undertaking of Mr. Simpson for the figures for 1999 and 2002 for Union Gas's supply charge for a typical residential customer.  And we have prepared an answer to that undertaking and have distributed to the parties, and it has been marked as Exhibit U1.1 and you ought to have been provided with a copy of that.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  Mr. Millar, do you know if we have a copy of that?


MR. MILLAR:  I understand Mr. Goulden placed copies on ‑‑ perhaps on your chairs or on your desk; is that correct, Mr. Goulden?


MR. SMITH:  Yes, that would have been done.


MR. MILLAR:  It is a one‑page document, U1.1.


MS. NOWINA:  We have that, thank you.


MR. SMITH:  The second matter, Madam Chair, we distributed last night, by e‑mail, to all the parties that have available this morning copies of the curriculum vitae of Mr. Russell Feingold of Navigant Consulting, who will be called, along with Mr. Mark Kitchen, of Union Gas on Union's rate design panel which will be heard next.


MS. NOWINA:  Shall we mark that as an exhibit, Mr. Smith?


MR. SMITH:  Yes, that might be appropriate.  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  That will be exhibit M2.1.


EXHIBIT NO. M2.1:  CURRICULUM VITAE OF RUSSELL 
FEINGOLD.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.  Those were the only preliminary matters that I had hoped to deal with this morning.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  Mr. Adams, I was going to give you an opportunity to examine the panel again, if you wish to.  Have you decided if you want to do that?


MR. ADAMS:  Yes, Madam Chair.  I did promise to be short if I was going to take you up on your offer.  In an effort to try and facilitate the panel, the witnesses, in their preparation and answers, we tried to pre-circulate to them -- unfortunately it was later yesterday afternoon, but we did circulate a document that described some of the questions that we wanted to get into.


MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, just not to interrupt Mr. Adams, but we did receive those questions and I had the witnesses specifically consider them.  So for Mr. Adams' edification and the parties, we'll be in a position to answer them.  One of the questions specifically asked for a table to be prepared, and the witnesses actually were able to do that, notwithstanding the timing of the request.


So we just finished that minutes ago, but I can give it to Mr. Adams and the parties now, if that would be of assistance.


MS. NOWINA:  That would be helpful.  Thank you to both you, Mr. Adams and you, Mr. Smith, for being so cooperative.


MR. SMITH:  It may make some sense to mark that as the next exhibit, as well.


MS. NOWINA:  We will do that.


MR. MILLAR:  That will be M2.2.


EXHIBIT NO. M2.2:  TABLE IN RESPONSE TO ENERGY PROBE'S 
QUESTIONS.  

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  That is response to Energy Probe's Notice of questions May 25th.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Adams.


UNION GAS LIMITED - PANEL 1; RESUMED:


David Simpson; Previously Sworn


Patti Piett; Previously Sworn

CONTINUED CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. ADAMS:

MR. ADAMS:  Thank you.  If I can turn you to Exhibit M1.9, the new evidence from the 23rd, the first thing I want to understand is the definitions in column A and column B.  Column B indicates that the figures presented exclude forecast risk management.


My question is:  Please confirm that column A includes forecast risk management.


MS. PIETT:  It does.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  And what's the forecast?  It's a forecast of what?


MS. PIETT:  The forecast is what we know at the time we are filing our QRAM, what we know of forecast costs and settlements, to the extent we do.  We generally only know our costs at that point.  So it is generally a cost.  And settlements are determined after and would be cleared through the PGVA.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  So what settlements are you referring to?


MS. PIETT:  When we purchase risk management options, for instance, if we were to buy a call, we would know the cost of buying that call and that would be in our approved WACOG.  But what we wouldn't know is whether that call will pay out, or not.  So if we bought a $10 call and the market went to $14, we would receive four dollars back and we wouldn't have known that at the time that we filed the QRAM.  So we would receive that after, and that would be included in the PGVA.


MR. ADAMS:  So these are forecasts as of the end of the quarter, as you're closing the quarter?


MS. PIETT:  Column A and column B are the ‑‑ are WACOG's prior to that quarter, so that was the rate ‑‑ for instance, on the first line it says January '03.  That's the forecast of what we thought ‑‑ is our reference price, pardon me, for January and February of that year.


MR. ADAMS:  Right.


MS. PIETT:  That would have been filed sometime prior to that.


MR. ADAMS:  So it's at the opening of the quarter for that respective QRAM?


MS. PIETT:  That's exactly right.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  So in the column, the next column over, which is A versus B.


MS. PIETT:  Yes.


MR. ADAMS:  Those are not actuals at the end of the day.  They are your -- they're based on your forecast at the time that the quarter starts?


MS. PIETT:  What that column represents, A versus B, is what the reference price would have been had we not been in the risk management business.  So had we not forecast what our risk management costs were, we would have seen column B as a reference price.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  Now, moving on to the PGVA balances that are shown in the next panel of figures, the next table of figures, I'm not sure what the proper way to refer to these different boxes are.


Do you have nomenclature that just helps clarify, so we make sure we are talking about the same thing?


MS. PIETT:  Perhaps if we use the letters at the top of the columns, that might make it easy.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  So what are the PGVA balances here?  I'm trying to grasp how these are composed.


These are not rolling PGVA 12 month, are they?


MS. PIETT:  No, that's correct.  They are not.


What that column represents, for instance, column C, that's our actual cost of gas compared to the reference price in that quarter.  So for the first line that's titled January '03, in column C you see a figure of 50.5 million.  That represents the difference between our cost of gas and the reference price multiplied by the volume that was consumed in those two months.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  So do I understand correctly, if we look at column C, that that is after the completion of the quarter?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.  That's for January and February.  Actually, you will notice it wasn't actually a quarter, because in 2003 we didn't have regular QRAM filings that were a quarter necessarily.  So that first line represents two months of activity, because the QRAM price changed to March '03.


MR. ADAMS:  I will try to stop referring to it as a quarter.


MS. PIETT:  I was doing that, as well.

     MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  If we go back to the table that shows the Alberta Board of Reference Price, it indicates the price with risk management was slightly higher than the non--- what the non-risk managed price would have been.  Yet the risk managed -- the risk management impact on PGVA clearing, at the right-hand side of the exhibit, indicates that risk management decreased the absolute value of the rate rider.  

     My question is, help me understand how the risk management impact can be both a consumer debit and a consumer credit at the same time for the same quarter or for the same time period.  

     MS. PIETT:  Okay.  In the first chart, Alberta Board of Reference Price, we have backed out our costs for risk 

management.  Primarily our costs.  There would be some 

settlements in there if we knew what that settlement was at the time.  But it is primarily cost.  So when you look at just the reference price, if you were to back out the risk management costs, the reference price would go down by 1.5 percent on average.  But over and above that, as the quarter or months in place play out, we may receive some settlements from risk management.  And that would have an effect on the PGVA either positive or negative over and above the Alberta Board of Reference Price cost that we referenced.  

     So although it may appear that risk management was a debit and was later credited, that in fact is what happened with the numbers.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  So if we look to the bottom of column G -- well, E versus F.  

     MS. PIETT:  Yes.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Oh, hang on.  Maybe we should turn to the -- your new exhibit, M2.2.  This one presents, in response to our request, presents the numbers in the same units.  In the previous table we had the Alberta Board of Reference Price or WACOG treated in Canadian dollars per GJ.  Then the PGVA clearing in cents per cubic metre.  

     So just for simplicity, so we can look at them together, I requested this table.  Do I understand correctly this table is just a mechanical -- like there is no other adjustments except equilibrating the units?  

     MS. PIETT:  That's correct.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  I am just trying to understand the 

implication of all of this.  

     If we go to the bottom line in column G, in the lower right-hand corner, the overall impact of risk management over the time period that's presented, January 2003 to January 2006, that overall impact is to decrease overall consumer costs by one percent; right?  

     MS. PIETT:  Column G represents the size of the rate rider as the change in the size of the rate rider between columns E and F, as compared to the size of the total charge of the commodity.  

So column G is new information, because we didn't compare it the last time we met to the size of the total commodity.  We had only compared it to the size of the rate riders.  But the conclusion, when we have added G, is that risk management has reduced the size of the rate rider by one percent when compared to the size of the total commodity cost in that period.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Right, okay.  So the most significant impact of risk management would have been -- is identified as March '03 and that's a negative seven percent amount.  But the rest of it falls within the range of zero to two percent, plus or minus?  

     MS. PIETT:  That's correct.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  

     MS. PIETT:  The conclusion of column G is that risk 

management reduces the size of rate riders, because there's less volatility in the cost of gas.  So less either credits or debits will accumulate in a PGVA, if our price is more stable.  Therefore we'll have smaller rate riders.  If you're just looking at the size of the rate riders, it would be smaller by 16 percent.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  Those rate riders will be either positive or negative.  There is one positive case and there's several negative cases.  

     MS. PIETT:  That's correct.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Right.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Adams could I stop there and ask Ms. Piett a question just to make sure I understand it.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  

     MS. NOWINA:  So the variation in the size of the rate rider is the 17 percent, is that correct?  Or 16 percent. 

     MS. PIETT:  16 percent, that's correct.  

     MS. NOWINA:  16 percent.  And the one percent is the 

variation in the overall cost of gas to the customer, is that right?  Or the variation in the overall volume. 

     MS. PIETT:  It's the size of the reduction of the rate rider as a percentage of the total commodity cost. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Of the total amount?  

     MS. PIETT:  That's correct.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Maybe I can turn you to M1.10.  

     Here I think I've just am struggling with the titles on the first table, the table entitled "volatility".  

     There's two lines for gas cost.  One shows Union's monthly actual cost of gas, and the second line is the NYMEX monthly settles.  

     What I want to confirm is that what's presented there is not the actual cost of gas, but the standard deviation of the monthly averages over the year.  

     Am I understanding that correctly?  

     MS. PIETT:  That's correct.  

     MR. ADAMS:  So when we look at the conclusion that risk management has reduced the volatility by 39 percent, what we are looking at there is -- let me see if I can paraphrase this correctly, correct me if I'm wrong -- but it's the reduction in the standard deviation of the monthly costs that Union sees in acquiring system gas.  

     MS. PIETT:  Yes.  That's correct.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  But if we want to look at the customer impacts, that 39 percent would be embedded in the figures that we saw on the previous two exhibits, M1.9 and M2.2 in terms of what flows out to the customer, in terms of price changes that the customer is experiencing.  

     MS. PIETT:  That's correct.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  I think we're in the clear.  I think I'm better understanding.  I appreciate the panel's patience with this.  

     MS. NOWINA:  It was very helpful to us, Mr. Adams.  Thank you.  

     I believe Mr. Dingwall - let me check here - you were up next; is that right?  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Yes.  We've had some discussions 

off-line, and we'll continue them for 30 seconds.  

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, I guess I will be next on deck.  

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  As a preliminary matter, I had omitted the reference to the Natural Gas Forum that was provided by Union in my book of materials and I provided that to the company.  I wonder if that should be marked as either an addendum to the exhibit or as a new exhibit today. 

MS. NOWINA:  Why don't we mark it as a new exhibit, Ms. DeMarco.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Ms. DeMarco, I don't see a copy of that, that doesn't mean it is not here.  Do you have a copy of that document?  

     MS. DeMARCO:  I have.  

     MR. MILLAR:  We may have it, I just didn't see it in front of me.  

Panel do you have a copy of this document. 

     MS. NOWINA:  We have. 

     MR. MILLAR:  This will be Exhibit M2.3. 

     EXHIBIT NO. M2.3:  NATURAL GAS FORUM REFERENCE


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. DEMARCO:

MS. DeMARCO:  With that preliminary matter out of the way, panel, thank you for your patience, and I have three main areas, predominantly in the way of clarifications, that I would like to cover with you.  The first is clarifications on the 24‑month fixed-cost purchase plan and why that is necessary, along the lines of following up on what Mr. Warren covered yesterday.


The second area is in relation to clarifications on what the customer gets from Union's risk management program and the Union resources required to provide it.  Again, this is a few areas touched upon by Mr. Adams.


The third area is an examination of potential consequences and alternatives to risk management and the 24‑month fixed-cost purchase plan.


Throughout my questions, I will be referring predominantly to what's now marked as Exhibit M1.7.  So if you have that handy, it might be of assistance.


MR. SIMPSON:  Is that the package you handed out on Tuesday?


MS. DeMARCO:  It is.


MR. SCHUCH:  Madam Chair, I believe that is the Superior Energy Management book of materials.


MS. NOWINA:  Right.


MS. DeMARCO:  Do you have that?


MS. PIETT:  Yes, we do.


MS. DeMARCO:  Great.  If I could ask you to turn to tab 1A.


MS. PIETT:  Pardon me?


MS. DeMARCO:  If I could ask you to turn to tab 1A, specifically appendix A to Exhibit D1, tab 1.


This is Union's system gas procurement risk management policy and procedures.


I take it, from the title, that there is in fact a distinction between gas procurement and risk management; is that fair?


MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, I think that is fair.


MS. DeMARCO:  And an examination of the table of contents and the introduction would support that, as well; is that fair?


MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  Specifically the introduction states that the manual includes both gas procurement and risk management activities and have used them as complementary functions.  That's fair, as well?


MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, it is.


MS. DeMARCO:  Can I ask you then to turn to Exhibit D1, tab 1, which is at tab 1A of my materials, starting on page 16?


MR. SIMPSON:  Could you repeat that reference, please?


MS. DeMARCO:  It's tab 1A of my materials.  It is Exhibit D1, tab 1, page 16 of 24.


Starting at line 12, I understand Union to indicate that it's seeking an order to approval to purchase 20 percent of its total sales service supply portfolio on a rolling 24‑month fixed-cost basis; that's right?


MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  That would be part of the gas supply procurement portion of what Union is undertaking?


MR. SIMPSON:  No.  The frame of reference for the introduction of this proposal was within the risk management program itself, which you just referred to as the entire document.


In fact, the detail in which we would transact those purchases would be through financial swaps, which is a common nomenclature in the industry that effectively gives you a fixed-price purchase or a fixed-price cost.


MS. DeMARCO:  So I guess you've touched upon where I'm getting hooked up here or getting stuck from time to time.


In your materials, both in Exhibit D1, tab 1 and in response to interrogatories, you've described this plan in various ways.


Subject to check, would you agree that you described it as part of the supply plan portfolio?


MR. SIMPSON:  I think we have been consistent in how we provided evidence on this matter.


The 24-month fixed-cost purchase plan, as it is described in evidence, is intended to allow Union to make positions in the marketplace of 20 percent for two years, achieving a fixed-price purchase of gas.  That will be established by layering in the purchases over a two-year time frame under the guise of tools already available within the approved plan, risk management program plan, as a result of the 0063 case.


MS. DeMARCO:  I'm just tripped up on the wording here, because you've got it -- for example, at page 17, line 3, it's described as consistent with hedging activities, but not necessarily part of hedging activities.


If you want to turn to tab 3A at Exhibit J6.49, which was an interrogatory of CCC, again you've described it as consistent with, but my inference is distinct from Union's risk management program.


In fact, in that interrogatory, CCC asked you to identify how it differs from hedging.  And, in fact, the answer doesn't really highlight how that is different from hedging.


MR. SIMPSON:  Let me try again, because it's referenced in various places, obviously, in the plan and in the many IRs and in evidence.


The risk management program that was in your tab 1A on page 12, if I could just point to that, this is a listing of approved transaction instruments.  So as part of section 7, these speak to the types of tools that we have at our disposal for acquiring gas and providing risk management services.  Our intent is, under 7.2, to use swaps, as I mentioned earlier, to acquire the two‑year fixed-price purchase outcome.


So I think while we might play on words, the intent is definitely consistent, which is as I described earlier.


MS. DeMARCO:  Not to belabour the point, but if you could turn up tab 3A at Exhibit J7.07?


MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry, Ms. DeMarco, I missed that.  7. ‑‑


MS. DeMARCO:  ‑‑ 07.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.


MR. SIMPSON:  We have that.


MS. DeMARCO:  Specifically at question A, you were asked to describe the interrelationship between the risk management and the proposed 24-month fixed-cost purchase plan.


In your response, you have indicated that you have no documents or evidence on the interrelationship between the 24-month fixed-cost purchase plan and Union's risk management program.  The 24-month fixed-cost purchase plan consists of purchasing fixed price supplies.


Then you go on to say that fixed price supplies are part of Union's risk management program.


So if my understanding is correct here, you're indicating that all of these fixed-cost price purchases will be undertaken in the context of risk management, not as part of the supply procurement plan; is that fair?


MR. SIMPSON:  I think that's fair.  Again, I will come back to words.  Interrelationship, the reason we said there was no interrelationship ‑‑ because, in my mind, as I drafted that response, that would suggest that in fact they were two very different approaches or proposals.  The 24-month fixed-purchase plan, we feel, is already a tool at our avail and within the program.  We simply are seeking Board pre-approval, given that it is a fixed-price outcome that will be achieved.


MS. DeMARCO:  I would like to come back to that, because you have indicated that the Natural Gas Forum is the impetus for you seeking that approval.


If I can just park that for a minute, let's move from words to numbers, so I can fully understand exactly what is being proposed.


If I could ask you to turn to tab 5, let's use B as an 

example.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Sorry, Ms. DeMarco, what is the reference 

again?  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Tab 5B of Exhibit M1.7, which is Union's -- an excerpt from Union's annual report for 2005.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Part of their evidence.  

     Do you have that?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  We do.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So under the heading "gas supply" starting at what is at tab, page 15, it indicates the gas supply portfolio includes both fixed-price contracts and contracts with pricing mechanisms that reflect daily variations in gas prices.  

     The next paragraph goes on to state that the company has a risk management policy and it has physical and financial hedges as part of that risk management policy.  

     What I understand, based on your answers, is that what 

you're proposing, in the 24-month fixed cost purchase plan would fall within that second paragraph; is that fair?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So looking at the numbers, then, further on.  It indicates that Union's total gas supply portfolio would be 120 petaJoules. 

     MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And so do I understand that 20 percent of that will be moved out of the gas supply plan and into the risk management plan?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  No.  I will try to help clarify again.  If we park the words and think of physical gas.  We have to buy natural gas.  It actually has to be put into a pipe and delivered down the line.  

     Those are done with certain counterparties that have 

contracts with us.  When we risk manage, in the case of the 

24-month plan, we will probably be dealing with primarily banks, the parties that provide financial tools, one of which is we referred to as a swap.  And that is the tool that will, in fact, enable us to achieve a fixed price on the molecule.  But the actual physical molecule may flow from a different party.  

     So that's a very different tool than fixing the physical gas with the same service provider that's providing the molecule and the price at the same time.  

     So one is a financial swap that's underpinned by gas, that's going to be flowing on the line.  The second is fixing outright the gas with the gas service provider.  Two very different approaches, both achieving a similar outcome, but as part of our proposal, we will be utilizing financial swaps.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So just to put the numbers in place, then.  What would amount to 20 percent of that 120 petaJoules, so about 24 petaJoules would fall within a fixed price contract in the context of your risk management activities?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  20 percent of the 120 gJs in that example -- and that –- sorry, pJs, that changes year to year.  But 20 percent of that will have a financial swap applied to it as part of the risk management program.  

     We still will have to buy 120 pJs physically.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So in terms of the hedgeable volumes as 

described in your policy, would you be able to further hedge all of those volumes?  Or would you hive off the 20 percent?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I think the latter is correct.  So of 120 pJs in that example, 20 percent would be achieved or risk managed through the financial swaps.  That wouldn't leave 120 pJs left to be additionally risk managed.  20 percent of the volume already would have been.  And in an IR response, it kind of got to that question.  We did identify the remaining, what would be 80 percent would be dealt with as per usual risk management tools.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So notionally what we would have here is that your total gas -- the percentage of your total gas supply portfolio using a variety of risk management tools, would increase, subject to what you've got reported here?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I'm just going to try to find an interrogatory response that I think may have helped with that.  

     It's not at the tip of my hands but I believe the response that was given if you use the example then, 20 percent will be utilized through financial swaps.  The remaining 80 percent will effectively be applied although it is a smaller volume, utilizing existing risk management tools.  On a percentage basis, you may have a slightly end result being a higher volume hedged.  But on a cost basis, we actually expect a reduction in risk management costs because a financial swap doesn't have any premiums associated with it.  

     In contrast to what Ms. Piett offered earlier, if you 

purchase a call as an option, which is a risk management tool, that has a premium associated with it.  

     If you purchase a financial swap, it does not.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Would it help for the reference of the Board to refer to Exhibit J1.58, which is located at tab 3 A.  Is it the statement that there are no costs associated with acquiring fixed-price swap contracts as a risk management tool that you are looking for?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.  Thank you very much, that was the 

interrogatory I was looking for.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  I would like to come back to that specific point as well.  

     I just want to touch upon how this plays into the actual supply portfolio and the volumes being hedged.  So if I understand what you have said correctly, there's a possible 24 million gigaJoules or 24 petaJoules that are subject to potential fixed-price contracts, for which you are seeking Board approval in this proceeding; is that right?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So the impact would be that you could enter into longer term, higher risk, fixed-price contracts; is that correct?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I'm not sure what you mean by higher risk.  In the 0063 case, it was supported by RMI's recommendations that longer-term risk management activity, in fact, be taken advantage of, if the opportunity arises.  

     Since that case because of rising prices, there is really not been historical value that's been available in the futures market.  

     This is a tool that, in fact, allows you to provide some mechanical layering in.  I would like to refer to it as almost dollar-cost averaging.  So because of its mechanical nature layered in evenly on a 24-month rolling basis the outcome is effectively you will achieve the average of that two-year period.  If it was today at a dollar and over 24 months rose to $24, you would have been buying one unit at each price point and achieved 

effectively a $12 average in that very simple example.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Maybe I was imprecise in my use of the term “higher risk.”  If you could turn to tab 1 A, page 9 of your policy this is appendix A of D1, tab 1. 

     MR. SIMPSON:  What part of the policy?  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Credit policy, located on page 9.  When I refer to higher risk I refer to it in the context of how your credit policy would see higher risk assessed, specifically physical or financial, any term pricing or physical beyond three months pricing would be subject to tier 1 credit requirements.  

     So higher credit ratings would be required of your counterparties due to the higher risk; is that fair?


MR. SIMPSON:  I actually wouldn't interpret it as a higher risk dealing with a tier 1 counterparty.  I would actually view it as the opposite.


What we've laid out in our program is that the parties that we deal with for financial risk management instruments must be an A rated party or higher.  So to the extent that the 24‑month plan is utilizing these types of parties, I would argue, from a credit standpoint, the risk is actually lower, because they have a higher credit rating than would otherwise be required physically.


MS. DeMARCO:  Compared to the short term contracts which are subject to tier 2 requirements, which appear to be BBB, these are higher risk; is that fair?


MR. SIMPSON:  No, I'm coming to the rating itself to suggest that dealing with an A party is less risky than dealing with a BBB minus or higher party, although, quite frankly, that's a good solid credit rating, as well.


MS. DeMARCO:  Just purely on the reading of your credit policy, Mr. Simpson, is it fair to say that the types of transactions that would attract a BBB rating, tier 2 transactions, have less associated risk than the type of transactions that would attract your tier 1, you're a credit rating?  Is that fair to say?


MR. SIMPSON:  If your point is because of the nature of the arrangement that there's maybe more price risk associated, that, in isolation, may be a fair statement.


What Union's policy does to counteract that is mandate that we deal with a higher credit ‑- credible party, which in a sense, in my position, makes it no more than risky at all.


MS. DeMARCO:  In terms of the proposed longer-term fixed- cost purchase plan, the type of transactions envisioned would be of the higher risk of the two listed here.  They would be tier 1 type transactions; is that fair?


MR. SIMPSON:  I don't think we're disagreeing.  All I'm pointing out is that to counteract the nature and the risk, per se, that our program encompasses could be the types of risks, if you will, with the mark to market.


So that if we purchased a financial swap at $10 and the market went to $15, that counterparty would owe us five dollars.


So that is what the risk is represented by.  My only point is I think we've equally offset that with the higher credit-rated party.


MS. DeMARCO:  So fair enough.  I will use the term tier 1 type transactions.  Does that help?


MR. SIMPSON:  That's fine.


MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  So the impact of the approval you're asking the Board for here would be to allow you to enter into longer‑term tier 1 type transactions; is that fair?


MR. SIMPSON:  I think that's fair.  What that means to me is that we need to deal with A rated credit parties, because we're going to use financial swaps.  So that I agree with.


MS. DeMARCO:  You could enter into those transactions for up to 240 million gigaJoules; is that correct?


MR. SIMPSON:  That number, again, where did you derive that number?


MS. DeMARCO:  That would be 20 percent of your estimated 120 petaJoules.  


MR. SIMPSON:  Correct, 20 percent of the purchase requirements, that's correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  And you could do that without Board knowledge or approval of the counterparties ‑‑ counterparty; is that correct?


MR. SIMPSON:  I believe so.  I don't think the Board's ever concerned themselves with the counterparties.  What we offer, in our policy, is that they will be A rated or higher, which will no doubt call out the names that we're all familiar with, which are largely the banks.


MS. DeMARCO:  And you can do so without the Board's knowledge or approval of the price; is that correct?


MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.  The Board wouldn't be familiar with the price each and every month as we transact it. 


What we're seeking approval on is the plan to implement those transactions and they would be done equally one-twenty-fourth each month on a rolling two-year basis.


MS. DeMARCO:  In addition, you could enter into such contracts with affiliates.  There is nothing preventing you; is that correct?


MR. SIMPSON:  I would say that's fair.  If an affiliate happened to be a financial counterparty that we had a contract with, they would, by all means, be an eligible counterparty.


In fact, they aren't.  So I think for purposes of today, that's irrelevant.


MS. DeMARCO:  And after having done so, if you get approval in this case for your plan, such contracts would not be subject to a prudency review; is that correct?


MR. SIMPSON:  I should explain a little bit about the financial contracts, because they do ‑‑ we do not seek prudence review of a contract with the bank.  What we in fact are bound by are industry standard contracts.  And the short-term phrase, and I will spell it in letters, is I-S-D-A, ISDA, International Swap Dealers Association contract.  It is a generic industry-accepted contract that is between the banks, or other counterparties, and ourselves; very standard, covering circumstances like this, not only in the gas industry, but other elements of the financial markets.


MS. DeMARCO:  Just to be clear, regardless of whether it is an ISDA or straight, physical contract or a NAESB contract, the Board would not have the ability to subsequently review that contract or that activity at a later date if it approves the proposal?


MR. SIMPSON:  What we would be seeking Board approval for, so that I am clear, we're not seeking Board approval for our ISDA contracts or financial contracts with our counterparties.  Those effectively are a shell contract that allows us to do business with one another.


So what we are seeking is the result of doing transactions that have a financial outcome, and the importance upon this particular program is really to reflect that it is a little bit longer term in nature.  As well, it does fix the price of the gas for up to 20 percent of our portfolio, which we thought was sufficient enough, in line with the Board's decision in the Natural Gas Forum, to seek prior approval.


MS. DeMARCO:  Let's move to that decision, if we can.  If I could ask you to turn up what is now marked as Exhibit M2.3, specifically on page 72.  Do you have that?


MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, I do.


MS. DeMARCO:  I understand, based on your responses to Mr. Warren on Tuesday, that you felt it necessary to seek approval for what you are currently doing, based on this decision; is that correct?


MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  And specifically at 72, page 72, where it says:

"The Board is not in favour of new long‑term utility supply contracts at this time."


That would have been the impetus to have you seek the pre-approval that you are looking for now?


MR. SIMPSON:  No.  The impetus really is on the next page, on page 73, where in the first paragraph the Board has further gone on to say:   

"They will offer utilities the opportunity to apply for pre-approval of long‑term supply and/or transport contracts."


I think we can -- in fact will argue in a following proceeding:  What does "long‑term" mean, because that's a word, rather than a term itself or year.


We really felt compelled that rather than just transact on this program, which we think is a good one, and seek approval of cost recovery at a later date, we thought it was incumbent upon us to follow the words of page 73 and seek prior approval.


MS. DeMARCO:  So what I understand you to be doing now is to be seeking the Board's approval not for a specific long‑term contract, but for a contracting practice; is that fair?


MR. SIMPSON:  I'm not sure what you mean by the two.  Perhaps you could help.


MS. DeMARCO:  There is no specific contract, long‑term contract, you are now putting before the Board for pre-approval; is that correct?


MR. SIMPSON:  There is not an individual contract with provider X that is for five years, that is correct.  What is in the proposal, that basically has the same outcome, is a series of transactions that will result in ongoing two‑year commitment of fix cost purchases.

     MS. DeMARCO:  And is it fair to say the only element we know about an unknown number of contracts is the total volume of such contracts; is that fair?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I think that's fair.  And perhaps to read a little bit into the NGF decision, and I didn't want to read it in so tightly that it would exclude us from seeking pre-approval, perhaps the Board had in mind certain circumstances where the long-term supply contract was one contract with party X.  Again, we've erred on the side of caution to present our proposal that we thought could well be read within the context of that finding.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you, Mr. Simpson.   I would like to move on to my second area of questions which is clarifications on what the customer gets from the risk management program on the 24-month fixed-cost purchase program and the Union resources required.  

     If I could ask you to turn up -- I will be referring to Exhibit M1.9, Exhibit M1.10; the new exhibit, M2.2; and, again, tab 1 A of Exhibit M1.7.  

     If we can start with M1.9.  

     Just running through.  Do I understand that based on column A and column B, for January '03, the customer is paying the same price as a result of your risk management programs?  For March '03, the customer is paying one cent more as a result of your risk management programs?  

     MS. PIETT:  This chart is indicating that the reference price would be the same in January '03, whether or not we had risk management.  It would be one cent different in March of '03, whether or not we had the same 

-- whether or not we had risk management.  

     But to understand the full implication of having risk 

Management, you have to read across the chart and see what the PGVA activity was happening in that same period.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  It's specifically the reference price that I would like to focus on now.  

     As I understand it, if we go down the chart, in all but one instance the reference prices is higher as a result of your risk management activities.  Is that fair?  

     MS. PIETT:  Column B is higher than column A, because in column A we have forecast risk management costs.  So when you back out those costs, it would make sense your reference point would go down, which is what you're seeing in column B. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  So in column B we have your reference price get as much as 32 cents a gigaJoule higher -- that would be October '03 -- as a result of your risk management activities.  Is that fair?  

     [Witness panel confers]

     MS. PIETT:  When we look at October '03 it shows, yes, there is a 32 cent difference in columns A and B, and that would be a result of what we were forecasting our risk management activity to be at that time.  So it would be not only the costs, but I'm imagining because of the size of the difference, we would have also included at that time what we anticipated the settlements would be.  

     The truth would be, however, if you also followed across and looked at the PGVA activity where the real truth would play out and you will see that, yes, the 8.6 is different than the 15.5 in the deferral activity as well.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  When you're talking about activity there, what we're talking about is certain instances where the price would be lower, customers are deprived of money back in their pockets; is that right?  

     MS. PIETT:  With risk management activity, you're right, the prices will be sometimes higher and sometimes lower as a result of risk management because we are evening out the volatility both sides.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So in certain instances, the customer is 

deprived of money back in their pocket; fair?  

     MS. PIETT:  In certain circumstances, customers will pay a higher charge than they might have otherwise and we expect that that would be offset in other periods when they would pay a lower price than otherwise.  And at the end of a longer period of time the mark to market would be zero so customers would pay the same amount at the end of the day.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Let's take a specific example of that.  If you can turn to Exhibit M1.10.  

     For the 2001 year, I understand this to mean that 8 percent of the commodity costs were higher as a result of risk management activity.  

     MS. PIETT:  That's correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So assuming that 75 percent of the bill is commodity, this would translate to about 10.6 percent of the overall bill would be higher?  

     MS. PIETT:  I can't do that math in my head, but also you should probably consider that in 2001, the bill -- the commodity portion on the bill, with transportation, wouldn't have been 75 percent at that time.  But you could do similar math and determine that customers paid more for gas that year as a result of risk management.  And it would have been offset by other years where they paid less.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Effectively assessing the impact, the 

volatility of the impact would decrease as you increase the 

period of time you're looking at.  

     MS. PIETT:  The volatility would be reduced over all of the periods as you would see in the top portion of M1.10.  So in some years you were looking at 2001, the volatility was reduced 67 percent.  All of the periods had volatility reduced.  The average was 39.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  I think we're speaking at 

cross purposes.  Why don't we turn to Exhibit M2.2 here.  What I understand this to be saying is that on average, based on your calculations, customers paid notionally 0.3 cents per metre cubed to decrease the volatility in the rate rider by 0.2 cents per metre cubed; is that fair?  

     MS. PIETT:  Can you repeat that again, please?  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Just looking at your first portion of the chart, customers paid on average 0.3 cents per metre cubed, 26.6 minus 26.3.  

     MS. PIETT:  I see.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  To effect a decrease in the volatility of 0.2 cents; comparison of the absolute values, 1.0 and 1.2; is that fair?  

     MS. PIETT:  I think what we're doing is mixing up absolute values with actual values.  If you look in the first portion of that chart, M2.2, the Alberta Board of Reference Price, the reference price would have been less had we not had risk management, which we have established earlier.  

     What we can also conclude, when you look at the second 

portion of that page, which is the risk management impact on PGVA clearing, that the rate rider would have also been less -- pardon me.  The risk rider would have -- the rate rider would have been larger if we did not have risk management by 0.2 cents.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  The absolute value of a rate rider, the fluctuation. 

     MS. PIETT:  Whether positive or negative, it would be 

larger. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  By 0.2 cents. 

     MS. PIETT:  By 0.2 cents. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  You're paying 0.3 per metre cubed to decrease the rate rider by 0.2 cents, decrease the 

change in the rate rider by 0.2 cents per metre cubed; fair?   

     MS. PIETT:  The customers are paying 0.3 cents higher 

reference price to decrease the size of the rate rider by 0.2 cents.  

     MS. DeMARCO:   Sorry, not the size.  The change in the rate rider.  

     MS. PIETT:  Not the change in the rate rider.  It would be the absolute size of the rate rider, whether it would be positive or negative.  

MS. DeMARCO:  Right.  Positive or negative. 

     MS. PIETT:  That's correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Okay, thank you.  So that goes to the

commodity-related expenses associated with risk management.  

     Can I ask you now to turn to, again, your risk management policy at 1 A, tab 1 A, starting at page 5?


 MS. PIETT:  Are you referring to the page that starts with "controls"?


MS. DeMARCO:  Yes.


MS. PIETT:  Okay.


MS. DeMARCO:  So I understand that there would be some delivery-related costs associated with corporate governance through executive review of the gas supply plan; is that fair?


MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  The commodity risk committee oversight of risk management activities - Mr. Adams covered this - there are some costs associated with that; is that fair?


MR. SIMPSON:  There is O&M costs associated with risk management that we spoke to earlier.


MS. DeMARCO:  Also with the physical transactions in number 3?


MR. SIMPSON:  Certainly we have O&M costs associated with transacting our physical purchases.


MS. DeMARCO:  In fact, would it be fair to say that there are O&M costs associated with each and every one of these seven aspects, which would go into your risk management activities?


MR. SIMPSON:  I'm not certain I would leap to that.  These are controls, per se.


In terms of O&M, I don't know that we've drawn a direct correlation, at least so far, in evidence.


MS. DeMARCO:  To the extent these controls need to be in place and someone needs to be doing them, is it fair to say there would be a cost for having that someone doing them?


MR. SIMPSON:  I think many of them might be de minimus.  This might come back to the type of discussion we had around a one-hour CRC meeting, which is one of the labels here.


I can't conceive of many of these that would have anything other than a de minimus impact on people's time.


MS. DeMARCO:  So the significant number of controls that you've got listed under 3.2 - reviewing all financial transactions; reviewing all physical transactions; reviewing the present status; reviewing each of the 12 monthly proposed risk management plans; executing them - they would be did he minimus?  It would take no time to do those?


MR. SIMPSON:  My point was as it related to risk management, financial risk management.


MS. DeMARCO:  So in terms of delivery costs generally, there would be costs associated with performing each of those activities?


MR. SIMPSON:  Certainly there's a gas supply department that completes these functions, and those are costs that are incurred.  But as it relates to risk management, I think we've covered that ground.


MS. DeMARCO:  So a portion of those gas supply planning costs would necessarily have to ensure each and every one of those controls that apply to risk management were implemented; is that fair?


MR. SIMPSON:  Could you repeat that, please?


MS. DeMARCO:  So in relation to risk management, there would be costs associated with ensuring each and every one of those controls, applicable to risk management, would be implemented; is that fair?


MR. SIMPSON:  I think what is fair is that these activities - and not all, but in part ‑ play a factor in our risk management program.


In terms of O&M, like I said earlier, I have not drawn a distinction between each one and the embedded O&M costs of risk management.


MS. DeMARCO:  Clearly just pointing out a few, if you look at page 6, you would have to ensure your front office was in compliance in relation to risk management activities.  You would want to ensure compliance with the credit guidelines in relation to risk management activities; is that fair?


MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  You would want to maintain the price data in relation to risk management activities; is that fair?


MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  In relation to the back office, you would want to do similar things.  You would want to examine or provide counterparty credit support, as required; is that fair?


MR. SIMPSON:  I'm in agreement with you that these play a role.  I'm trying to provide that, by and large, there's really only one person that is dedicated to risk management.  All of these other functions are not significant, in terms of time; not necessarily not significant in terms of importance, but in terms of time and involvement.  I don't see anything of significance.


MS. DeMARCO:  What about the audit of your activities.  Clearly that must take some time?


MR. SIMPSON:  Again, we ‑‑ as part of our controls, and I think it is a prudent control, to audit the process to make sure that we are in compliance with our own process controls.  That does take place.


In terms, again, of time, I don't see it as significant.


MS. DeMARCO:  And that audit activity certainly would apply to risk management activities, as well.  It's not just your gas supply, procurement activities?


MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  So fair to say that a number of these other matters would also apply to your risk management activities, such as exception reporting, annual review of any contracts?


MR. SIMPSON:  I think I have agreed with you a couple of times that they play a factor.  I just don't see them as significant.


MS. DeMARCO:  We just don't have any fully allocated costing data; that's fair?


MR. SIMPSON:  I guess that speaks to the question of the $100,000 estimate that was provided earlier.  What was in the micro detail underpinning that number, again, I'm not familiar with that.


MS. DeMARCO:  So no fully allocated costing data?


MR. SIMPSON:  I just said I'm not familiar with the detail behind 100,000.


MS. DeMARCO:  I understood that to be the cost of one full- time employee, but associated with each and every one of the activities we have covered, you have no fully allocated costing data; is that fair?


MR. SIMPSON:  I don't think I know the answer to that.  I do know that the costs associated and allocated to the program are $100,000.  I think we spoke earlier about the single individual that is dedicated to that.  Whether there's small amounts that are included that are beyond that person's time, I can't answer.


MS. DeMARCO:  That's fine.  Now just help me.  In terms of assessing your success, in order for the Board to determine whether or not there's value for customers in this activity, do I understand correctly that there's no tried and true number or statistic that you need to meet?


MR. SIMPSON:  I think for those of the ‑‑ those that are familiar with the 0063 case, this was discussed at length.  And RMI, who is an expert in the industry ‑‑ and just to capture their representation, they deal with some 30 LDCs across North America.  In fact, their client base represents almost a third of the residential gas consumed in North America.


They spoke to benchmarks, and their expert opinion was really that the benchmark is to build a program, try to -- or identify objectives and work towards those.  But to go on a micro-analysis of any particular time period, to say you exceeded one or fell short on another, would be very short‑sighted.


Risk management is a long-term venture.  The fact that the mark-to-market positions in the last few years is relatively small I think is a function that, because of historical prices being on the rise, we haven't had a chance to acquire longer-term supplies.  There just was not a foundation to acquire them.  


And over time, as markets cycle, RMI's opinion would be that the value, if you stick to your program, again will be achieved.


So while I would agree there doesn't seem to be an industry benchmark, that's not just my opinion.  It is RMI's, as well.  And more important than benchmarking on a micro-basis is building a plan on a macro-basis.


MS. DeMARCO:  So what I understand your answer to be ‑ and I'm also looking at page 5 of the RMI report, which is attached to Exhibit J6.49, which is found at tab 3A ‑ is that in order for the Board to assess whether that 0.3 cent price increase is worth that 0.2 cent decrease in PGVA riders, you would simply look to whether or not you had stuck to your plan; is that fair?
     MR. SIMPSON:  You know, I think we're mixing a few items.  The document that was referred to is RMI's support not from the last case for our program in general, but additional support and findings on the addition of the 

24-month program.  So RMI sees this as something that, within the industry, is in fact taking place.  That LDCs like ourselves are stretching out and buying fixed-price gas on a longer-term basis.  

     As far as, again, back to the benchmark, there's some 80 percent plus in an AGA study done - American Gas Association - North American LDCs that participate in risk management.  

     To suggest the performance numbers you indicated are ones that will dictate the future, I don't know if I would agree with that.  

     As you use different tools and go through different cycles in a gas-pricing environment, you will see different results.  And you know we pointed to one important quarter where customers saved $50 in that quarter alone, as a result of risk management.  So there's going to be some highs, there's going to be some lows. 

     On average, we realize that the mark to market position will tend to be around -- hover around zero plus or minus.  I think longer term volatility reduction will in fact occur.  While we're looking at the no volatility, another important benchmark that RMI and I support is just representing our price against benchmarks like the New York Mercantile Exchange Volatility.  On that basis it was reduced almost 40 percent.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Let me just try to put it in context of the 24-month fixed-cost purchase plan here.  

     I understand that at page 5 of that report, RMI has 

indicated because it is difficult to be objective after the fact, when a different mix of tools might have allowed for more desirable outcomes, the important trends to note is that regulators have agreed hedge programs meet the requirements of an after-the-fact prudence review, as long as the plan was executed according to initially-stated parameters.  

     So based on that, what I understand your position to the Board would be, in relation to the 24-month fixed cost purchase plan, as long as we stuck to the initial plan of purchasing 1/24th of the supply per month, regardless of who we did it with, regardless of what the cost was, regardless of what the long-term effect of the contract was in relation to market pricing, we would have been successful as long as we stuck to the initial plan.  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I actually do agree with that.  I mean we're seeking prior Board approval to transact the plan.  We can't crystal ball what the outcome will be.  And that speaks to the point that RMI mentioned.  

     As markets rise, for example, we could sit here in 

hindsight and say, Boy, from a savings standpoint, that was a great thing.  If markets fall, then from a cost standpoint this program would have an additional cost.  But over a long-term cycle and in the manner in which we have proposed it, which is to not be speculative, to be mechanical, layer in 1/24th each month, I think it is fair to assume that in the long-term, the mark to market position would be negligible.  The pluses would equal out 

the minuses.  But your volatility reduction would be significant.       

You would in fact achieve the average as you go, shaving off the peaks and the valleys.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So your answer is, yes, that's how the Board would view success?  You stuck to your plan?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, I think it is.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  Let me move on to the third and final line of questions that I have to ask, which are in relation to the potential consequences and alternatives to risk management and the 24-month fixed-cost purchase plan.  

     I will be referring to specifically tab 2A of Exhibit M1.7 and tab 3C.  And 2A is Tom Adams evidence in relation to risk management and 3C is -- I'm sorry, I don't have an appropriate exhibit number for that.  But it's Tom's response to the interrogatories of Superior Energy Management.  

     Would you take it as a general proposition that Mr. Adams indicates that customer behaviour, in accessing the direct purchase market, is impacted by the price that the utility charges?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I guess that speaks, absent Mr. Adams paper, to the question of what causes people to switch from sales service to direct purchase, or back.  

     I don't profess to be an expert.  It would seem obvious that price may be a factor.  What I can offer, is that the relationship between the two, the split, if you will, has been very stable for the last almost five years, which I believe is on the record.  Some 64 percent, I think, on sales service and the remainder on direct purchase.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Nonetheless, you would accept that price does affect customer behaviour?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I think that is reasonable.  I would expect it does.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And the behaviour we're talking about could be going to competitive supply option, is that fair?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I'm not sure what you mean.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  The customer behaviour that could be impacted would be a customer's choice around whether or not to take a competitive supply option?  Is that fair?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  To choose an alternate supplier than Union Gas, I think that is possible.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And also another element of the customer 

behaviour that could be impacted would be whether or not to 

conserve, use less gas; is that fair?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I don't know about that.  If the program's intent -- let's step back.  Whether it is a 24 month or whether it is a risk management program in general, is not to achieve the lowest price.  I don't know how to do that.  So we're not proposing that we do that.  We're proposing to reduce volatility.  

     So as prices fluctuate, consumers will form what opinions they wish.  But over the long-term, Union's plan is, in fact, not beat the market.  So to the question that was asked, I think it is almost too narrow a question to respond to, because there's a large play, in terms of what makes a customer's choice between sales service and a competitive direct-purchase option in the marketplace.  

     I don't disagree that price is a factor but I wanted to be clear we're not trying to beat the market with any of our programs.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Accepting that you are not trying to "beat the market," is it fair to say that if prices are high, a reasonable customer response could be to decrease use; is that fair?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I think that is fair.  In times of 

higher prices, we try to set our thermostats back.   

     MS. DeMARCO:  If the customer is not feeling the full impact of that high price, they may not respond to set the thermostat back; is that fair?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I don't know the answer to that question.  It is really getting into detail of what price point does a customer change or dial the thermostat back.  

     Recognize that in our QRAM and our programs that exist 

today, we said they will shave off the peaks, they will shave off the valleys.  I think the question asked as it is phrased to shaving off the peak the price might be lower at a point in time.  But our price might be higher at a point in time as well.  

     So will they conserve more during those periods?  I'm really not an expert to expand on the micro differences that might exist throughout changes in the marketplace.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Fair to say it is possible that it could have that impact?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  Well, yes.  I think I said it is possible they might conserve less when we're less than market.  And it is possible they might conserve more when we're greater than market.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Let's look at those peaks and valleys.  One option or one method by which those peaks and valleys, that volatility is minimized is through your QRAM; that has an effect of smoothing; fair?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  The QRAM, in my mind, is -- while it is 

similar, it is designed with a different intent.  

     The QRAM is intended, as the structures have been laid out, to set the forward prices on a quarterly basis.  It's not intended, per se, to have a net impact on the customer's bill.  

     To your point, it has the effect of showing some more price stability than might otherwise be in the market.  But it really is designed to set a reference point quarterly.  


MS. DeMARCO:  So, specifically, the combined impact of the QRAM with the PGVA and the clearing mechanism is to smooth the prices that would otherwise be felt if the customer were exposed to market; not the intent, the impact?


MR. SIMPSON:  I think I agree.  The impact of a stable price for three months is you don't have the effect if you were otherwise in an environment where your price changed, for example, monthly.


MS. DeMARCO:  And another option available to customers would be to subscribe to your equal billing plan, where they can actually engage you to smooth their costs throughout the year; is that fair?


MR. SIMPSON:  Again, I think perhaps with somewhat similar result, equal billing plan, to the best of my knowledge, was really designed to recognize that most of our consumption, in this part of North America, takes place in the winter.


So to help customers have payment ease, the program was designed to almost take some of that winter volume, in effect, and put it in the summer so that you have a net result of an equal bill payment throughout the year.


It has no impact on your total cost, nor does QRAM.  It has no impact on your total cost.  These are just market signal tools and payment tools, but neither impacts cost, per se.


MS. DeMARCO:  In fact, your risk management is not intended to beat the market either, is it?


MR. SIMPSON:  No, that's correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  And the third option available to customers would be to go to the competitive market, where they would have either a one- to three- to five-year fixed price; is that fair?


MR. SIMPSON:  I think that is fair.


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.  I think we will take our morning break now for 20 minutes.  So we will resume at 15 minutes before 11 o'clock.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 10:25 a.m. 
     --- On resuming at 10:54 a.m. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  

     Mr. Dingwall.  


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

     MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you Madam Chair.  As a preliminary matter, I have provided Board counsel and Board staff with a number of copies of a document I would like to have entered as an exhibit.  I believe the witnesses have copies in front of them. 

     MR. MILLAR:  That will be Exhibit M2.4.  

     EXHIBIT NO. M2.4:  DESCRIPTION OF UNION’S EQUAL 
BILLING PLAN  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  That's a description of Union's equal billing plan.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  That's correct.  That's a good title for it, Madam Chair.  

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DINGWALL:

     MR. DINGWALL:  Before we get to that, while people are 

still writing numbers down and things like that, just one or two clean-up questions.  

     Mr. Buonaguro asked you yesterday a number of questions with regard to the commodity line on the bill and the transportation line on the bill.  

     I believe the calculation that you undertook to provide to him was what percentage of the bill that both commodity and transportation form, in terms of average charges these days.  Was that one of the responses filed this morning?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I believe that is U1.1. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  I don't know if a copy made it this far.  Thank you. 

     Is transportation something that is risk 

managed?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I don't think in the context of our discussion today it is.  It represents, in a typical residential bill, i.e., TransCanada PipeLines, capacity we might have on that pipeline.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  So the transportation which is a separate line item on the bill, is not something which is subject to the risk management activities that we're speaking of today?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.  We don't put options or 

hedges on the transport -- we do acquire diversified portfolio of transport.  But we don't risk manage per se the transportation itself.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Do you know approximately what portion of the bill transportation accounts for?  Here you have a bundled figure together with commodity, which is why I'm asking that.  

     [Witness panel confers]  

     MR. SIMPSON:  We're conferring to try and get order of 

magnitudes correct.  And this would be a representation.  I think the transport charge would be somewhere between three and a half, four cents per cubic metre versus the commodity, would represent a more fully 35 plus or minus cents, if that helps.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  So roughly about ten percent of the bill additionally is transportation?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  Roughly ten percent of the commodity and 

transport line is probably transportation.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  So if we're trying to find out what portion of the bill is actually subject to risk management implications, and we took off the transportation portions, then that would drop it by about ten percent.  I take it that is based on current commodity rates and that if you're going back to the other dates that you've got on here, the proportions would be different as transportation costs have been fairly consistent throughout that period?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  Right.  I think my representations are fairly best reflected in April of '06.  So to use that specific number, I think order of magnitude perhaps $900 of the bill is commodity and 100 is transportation.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Right now.  Going back to 2002, I take it the distribution would be significantly different?  Sorry, I mean the distribution between -- not to mix a technical term in where it’s not -- between transportation and commodity. 

     MR. SIMPSON:  I agree it would be different.  I can't 

comment on, you know, whether it would be 90 percent, 10 percent back then.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  I'm not going to ask you to go further on that, I just wanted to make that one point of distinction.  

     Moving on to the equal billing plan.  Do you know how many customers take service under the equal billing plan?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I believe that an interrogatory already asked, J31.20, we identified that 35 percent of Union's customers -- to translate that to numbers of customers, my math has that in the order of magnitude of 290,000 customers.  That would be sales service and about 168,000 direct purchase.  Those are estimates, but the 35 percent is correct.       

MR. DINGWALL:  So there is no restriction on access to the equal-billing plan, based on whether a customer is on direct purchase, or not?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  Not that I'm aware of.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Now another interrogatory describes the 

seasonal enrolment requirement for equal billing, in that 

customers must be enrolled in the plan prior to September of the year.  

     Are there any other restrictions, such as credit history that would prevent a customer from subscribing to an equal billing plan?  

     MS. PIETT:  No, there are not.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  So as long as they register in time, then they're eligible?  

     MS. PIETT:  That's correct.  And if they register outside of that time, if they register after February, then they will be held in cue for the following fall.  It's not that they're turned away.  It just wouldn't begin until September of the following season.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Well, the equal billing plan makes a good deal of sense for you from a cash management perspective, does it not?  

     MS. PIETT:  Some customers would think that.  Other 

customers prefer pay as you go.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  For example, in looking at the two graphs -- well, I will leave that line for the moment.  

     Now, this graph attempts to show what billing levels would be for customers on the equal billing plan as compared to customers that are not on an equal billing plan.       

I take it these are general service customers.  

     MS. PIETT:  That's correct.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Underneath in small lettering, you've got the, one of the presumptions under this graph stated that average natural gas consumption is 3300 metres cubed per year.  I think the question mark is supposed to be a squared sign.  

     And that that varies between 3100 in southern Ontario 

and 3300 in northern and eastern Ontario.  

     MS. PIETT:  That's correct.  That's what it says.  These graphs were intended to be very general graphs to depict what your payments might look like under either scenario.  You will notice on the left of the graph, there are no units, so it doesn't show exactly what their payment requirement would be in each month.  It is really just to present an idea to the customers of how the different options work.       

MR. DINGWALL:  I take it in preparing these graphs, you would use the fairly widely-known load shapes associated with the consumption of the customers in the general service classes?  

     MS. PIETT:  That's correct.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  So I'm presuming, then, that it would be possible for you to give us an indication of what the average monthly consumptions for customers in this demographic would be in the pay-as-you-go scenario?  Not necessarily today, but I'm presuming that that is a number that's easily ascertainable based on either the 3100 or 3300 average consumption.       

MR. SIMPSON:  I was just conferring with Ms. Piett.  We will continue of course to be as helpful as possible.  I would just ask you to recognize that we're not in the equal billing department.  

     I think what appears obvious is the graph itself, it has a load duration curve that looks like it uses more in the winter and less in the summer.  You take the total and divide it roughly over almost eleven and some partial of the twelfth month.  What the actual units are when it is levelized, I don't think we know. 


 MR. DINGWALL:  I was asking my question actually with respect to the first graph.  The first graph appears to depict what a customer's bill would look like, based on known consumption patterns.


So I'm wondering if you're able to take that a step further and break down what the known consumption, just the volumetric number, is on a month-by-month basis for an average customer.


MS. PIETT:  We don't have that information here.  It is what is used in the forecast, our revenue forecast for general service customers, on a percentage basis.  So our demand forecasting people would have those numbers, but we don't.


MR. DINGWALL:  I am simply looking for month-by-month average consumption, general service, residential customer, either 3100 or 3300, whichever one of those profiles fits.  Is that something that's ascertainable?


MS. NOWINA:  You're asking for an undertaking, Mr. Dingwall?


MR. DINGWALL:  I am.


MR. SMITH:  The answer to the undertaking from a technical perspective, as I understand it, is the information could be obtained.  If I could have a moment.  I believe we can get it before the end of the hearing, the evidentiary portion, which I think is going to take place tomorrow. 


The only concern I have is one of relevance to the issue of risk management.  The chart on the page is illustrative of consumption.  Then it compares, assuming there is no difference in the consumption, what your payments would look like.


I wonder what the underlying data might add to the particular analysis of the appropriateness of risk management?


MS. NOWINA:  As am I, Mr. Smith.


Mr. Dingwall?


MR. DINGWALL:  Let me tell you where we're going with this.  What we have at this point is a concern specifically arising out of the Board's decision in the last Enbridge rates case, as to what the relative merits of the risk management program that Union Gas is proposing to continue into its next year with modifications, vis‑a‑vis the existing programs that are in place, which include the quarterly rate adjustment mechanism and the equal billing program.


Both of those programs were cited in the Enbridge decision as questions the Board had in mind as to whether or not the risk management program actually provided any incremental benefit.


Now, what I would like to get to, and then further moving on to look at, you know, the question of volatility and what risk management actually does, is a comparative analysis of what the bill impact to customers at the end of the day is, as a result of these various measures.


Now, knowing the consumption pattern of the smoothed consumption presumptions under the equal billing program, versus the monthly volatility that's associated with a customer simply being on general service pay as you go, would help me inform that significantly.


MS. NOWINA:  So just so I understand where you're going, Mr. Dingwall, you want the information ‑‑ it isn't really to do with this particular exhibit.  It's further information that you want around the equal billing clients.  So you want the specifics on the equal billing plan, in terms of consumption or load profile, if you like, for an average customer as they have defined an average customer; is that correct?


MR. DINGWALL:  Yes, the same thing that is as a schedule to every service agreement that the company signs with a direct purchase.  You know, they derive their DCQ from that.  It's a common load profile.


MS. NOWINA:  Right.  Then you're looking for a further undertaking, which is a comparison of that to the risk management results?


MR. DINGWALL:  Well, we're going to get to what they can provide us further to that based on the next series of questions.  This is just one building block.  If I have to do the comparison, I will do it.  But if there is a way for them to do it, we will figure that out.


MS. NOWINA:  The reason I'm trying to figure it out now, Mr. Dingwall, in relation to this undertaking, is once you have the information - it's obviously not readily available today ‑ there won't be an opportunity to further question on it.  So whether or not that would suit your needs is where I'm getting to.


MR. DINGWALL:  Certainly.  I anticipate that the balance of my questions will provide me with enough information.  So that I don't ‑‑ I will not have any further questions on the information being provided as a result of the undertaking.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.


MR. SMITH:  I guess the only comment I would add to that is the bill is the bill, and the reduction of the volatility that Ms. Piett and Mr. Simpson have spoken about is what it is.  And what we're looking at in the two charts is really just the difference in timing of the payments.  It is just a payment plan.  So at the end of the year, with the true‑up, the customer will have paid the same amount, whether over 12 months or in one month, you know, variations.


So I guess I'm still at something of a loss to see the value of it.


MS. NOWINA:  I assume it is a comparison in volatility, not in actual amounts.


MR. DINGWALL:  That's correct.  What we're looking at is what each measure does to reduce volatility.


MS. NOWINA:  Right.


MR. SMITH:  Well, I can save my submission on the point for argument, then, because I doubt the utility of it, but I will provide it.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  After all of that, can we get an undertaking?


MR. SCHUCH:  Madam Chair, that would be undertaking U2.1.  Perhaps just for clarity, we could get Mr. Dingwall to specifically state what the undertaking is.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  I'm asking for the company to provide, with respect to its average customer, as depicted in the first graph on M2.4, what the monthly consumption presumptions are for that average customer in the pay-as-you-go scenario.


UNDERTAKING NO. U2.1:  PROVIDE MONTHLY CONSUMPTION 
PRESUMPTIONS FOR THE AVERAGE CUSTOMER IN A PAY-AS-YOU-
GO SCENARIO

MR. SMITH:  That's fine.  One point of clarification, Madam Chair.  The charts, as Ms. Piett indicated, are based upon an average natural gas consumption of 3,300 metre cubed per year.


My understanding is the actual data that Union might have available to it is based on 2,600 cubic metres per year, which is more up‑to‑date information about average use than is in these charts.


These charts are purely illustrative, and so that they haven't been updated to reflect the 2,600.  So when we provide the undertaking, it will not be based on 3,300, but it will be underpinned by 2,600.  But I expect the consumption pattern to look similar.


MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you.


Now, given your earlier qualification on your expertise with regard to equal billing, do you know whether the company uses its projections of what future gas prices will be in projecting what the payments are to be under the flattened equal billing plan going forward?


MR. SIMPSON:  I don't know.


MR. DINGWALL:  Fair enough.


Moving on to M1.9, in general, it appears that your comparison here, and the time periods that you have chosen for that comparison, are based around the time periods during which rates are set.


For example, you've got, first, figures for January 2003; March 2003, et cetera; Is that correct?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  Flipping briefly to M1.10, in the first section under "volatility", your comparison is on an annual basis in how volatility is dampened.


Just looking at that of its own, I notice that first of all the currency, being US dollars, and, second of all, the medium of measure which for Union, the actual cost of gas is in gigaJoules, whereas for the NYMEX monthly settles, it is in NM BTU.  Both of those units are different.


 Have you done any analysis to show what the volatility results under this particular portrayal would be, if you adjusted for the currency values during those times, as well as adjusted for the different volumetric measurement levels?  

     MS. PIETT:  The purpose of the volatility chart, as you see it, is to show the volatility in the natural gas prices.  

     If we were to put them into common units you would mix in then also the volatility of the currencies, US and Canadian, and that would make the analysis more obscure as to what was driving the volatility.  

     So we chose to keep it just focussed on the volatility of the natural gas prices, by keeping the currency in the exact units by which those two measures are -- measures occur.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Would that have been more correct had you actually used the same unit of measurement of gas?  

     MS. PIETT:  Had we used the same measure, it would have been more obscure as to what was driving the volatility, because you would have two different commodities included in one analysis.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  I'm going to ask you to go back to M1.9 for a few questions, if you don't mind.  

     Now, what you've got here in columns A and B is the approved WACOG, both including in column A and excluding risk management.  

     It seems to me, then, that we could derive the conclusion that the column B numbers being a weighted average cost of gas -- first of all let me ask.  The numbers in column B, they go towards forming the base number for the quarterly rates, do they not?  

     MS. PIETT:  Column A is the approved reference price that we use in our rates.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  So column B, plus risk management, equals column A.  Which then becomes the base number for your quarterly rates?  

     MS. PIETT:  Column B plus a forecast of risk management.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  A forecast of risk management -- 

     MS. PIETT:  -- drives column A, that's correct.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  The analysis that you were trying to show on M1.10 with respect to volatility, appears to be suggesting that volatility should be measured based on the difference between the market prices, and what Union's approved -- what Union's monthly actual cost of gas is.  

     Could it not also be said that you could assess the impact of the quarterly rate adjustment mechanism, by comparing that of its own to the volatility of monthly natural gas prices?  

     MS. PIETT:  There are many different ways to measure 

volatility.  The standard industry way to measure volatility of cost of gas is as we have shown on M1.10 where we are comparing our cost of gas to the NYMEX monthly settles.  

     And that way we can compare our utility to other risk 

management utilities, possibly or to an industry benchmark that we all can look to.  

     M1.9 is showing the effect of a less volatile cost of gas on our bills.  I don't think you would probably want to measure NYMEX to how we structure our bills or our commodity rates.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  But isn't it the weighting and the averaging of the cost of gas that creates the WACOG number?  So that seems to me to be the first step between volatile market prices and rate derivation.  The QRAM step.  

     MS. PIETT:  I agree that the QRAM process does smooth out the volatility in the market to some extent on customers bills.  It smoothes out -- it's a payment plan really, or a charge plan is what the WACOG and the PGVA and QRAM process does.       

It doesn't affect the actual cost of gas it is just a way that we can collect or recover on those costs.  

     So that really is the difference.  There are several tools we have talked to today, about that affect the smoothing of customers' bills.  Risk management is different than the WACOG process or the QRAM process, because risk management affects the actual cost of gas that we're paying.  

     Then with risk management we will have smaller deferred costs.  That's where QRAM comes into play and QRAM takes those smaller deferred costs and spreads it out over 12 months for recovery.  

     So the two processes QRAM and risk management work hand in hand in smoothing customers' bills.  Then add on top of that there is equal billing for the 34 percent of customers that wish to have it.  Keep in mind there's 66 percent of customers that don't wish to have equal billing and we also have to consider ourselves with those people.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Now I take it in preparing 1.10, you did have access to the NYMEX monthly settled prices during these periods in order to aggregate them for an annual average, or in order for an annual amount. 

     MS. PIETT:  That's correct.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  I'm wondering if it's possible to ask you to produce the monthly prices not from the full period of M1.10, I am more interested in the period that you've reflected in M1.9 which is January '03 to January '06.  If you're able to do a currency conversion on the monthly dates, that would be very helpful.  

     The purpose in requesting this is to trying to find out what the smoothing effect, from the market prices, into the QRAM prices is.  So on the one and seeing the monthly prices in the marketplace and then being able to compare them to column A and column B on M1.9, we can then perform our own analysis on what appears to be happening with the volatility.       

MR. SMITH:  Well I'm being told -- I guess there are two answers to that, because I take this to be a request for an undertaking.  There is two answers to that.  

     First, I take from Ms. Piett's earlier answer that the converting of the currency will make the chart more, not less – sorry, less, not more helpful.  More significantly I'm being told by my client that the actual analysis may not be possible to complete by the end of the day tomorrow.  We can certainly try, but I don't know that it is possible and I don't want people to have the expectation that it will be.       

MS. NOWINA:  Let's take it in two parts.  Take the second part first.  

     Mr. Dingwall, how much does it affect you if that comes afterwards?  You would want it before argument, I would assume. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  One second, please.  

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  It seems the currency conversion is what might hold up the production of this and what appears to be the contentious part from Ms. Piett's points of view.  I wonder if the Alberta Monthly Index might be more directly relevant, less directly relevant to the M1.10 number, but might give us more comparability to the M1.9 numbers.  That's something which would be fairly easy to produce.  

     MR. SMITH:  Well, I think Mr. Dingwall's assumption with respect to currency is probably correct.  The balance of his assumption with respect to how easy it is, actually I don't know and I would actually just ask for the witness to let us know.  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I will try to step in and help.  You mentioned this was one or two specific years; is that correct?  

     MR. DINGWALL:  I'm looking for the same time period as M1.9.  

     MR. SMITH:  So January 2003 forward, Mr. Simpson. 

     MR. SIMPSON:  So by month from January ‘03 to January '06?  Is that correct?  

     MR. DINGWALL:  That's correct.  

     MR. SIMPSON:  And you want the NYMEX monthly price or a new number that's now the Alberta Monthly Settled Price. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Alberta Monthly Settled Price.  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I think we can do that, and I hope those that are going to help me get that done don't have a problem with that.  

     I would offer that some of this is publicly available 

information as well.  Whether it is NYMEX prices or Alberta 

prices, these are published monthly on the website.  But we will do our best to undertake and get that done.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

     MR. SCHUCH:  Madam Chair, that would be undertaking U2.2.  

     UNDERTAKING NO. U2.2:  TO PROVIDE ALBERTA MONTHLY 
SETTLED PRICE FROM JANUARY ’03 TO JANUARY ‘06

      MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Dingwall just to clarify.  That's just the numbers as you've asked for them, the monthly numbers.  There is no comparison there that you are asking to be calculated?


MR. DINGWALL:  No.  As we're in Canadian dollars, there's no need to address any currency.


MS. NOWINA:  You can do that yourself?


MR. DINGWALL:  That's correct.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  U2.2?


MR. SCHUCH:  U2.2.


MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead, Mr. Dingwall.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, still on 1.9, moving over to the column C, just a question with respect to interpretation.


Were any of the PGVA deferral activity numbers not cleared during those time periods?  I know in past years, maybe not this recently, PGVA balances were carried forward from time to time if they thought there might be a change in the market, or some concern with respect to ‑‑ with putting a large rate rider on all at one time.


So looking at the numbers that you portrayed here under column C, were all of those numbers cleared in all of those periods?


MR. SIMPSON:  I believe they were, to the best of my knowledge, yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  Moving on to column E, am I to understand that this is the portion of the rate rider relating to PGVA, or is this the portion of the rate rider relating to the accumulation of all deferral accounts?


MS. PIETT:  That is the rate rider declared with just the PGVA activity, as the column header says, for that quarter.  So column E directly relates to column C.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  So during the time that the PGVA is being established and ongoing, there are a number of other deferral accounts that come into play in setting the rate rider that a customer sees on its bill?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, I think you mentioned a number of the accounts, and it's a fairly short and finite list.  Can I just get you to repeat those?  There's the spot gas account?


MS. PIETT:  I will try to recount them off the top of my head.  There is the north PGVA and the south PGVA, and those two are added together in this analysis.  On top of that, there is north tolls and fuel.  There is inventory rebalancing.


There is spot gas.  There is UDC.  I think that is it.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, does not spot gas have a little bit of pertinence to the risk management activity?


MR. SIMPSON:  I don't think so.  Spot gas is typically purchased during winter seasons, if demands are higher than expected.  Risk management is, as discussed at length, about applying options and hedges against expected purchases.


MR. DINGWALL:  Would you agree with me that you would only buy spot gas if you didn't have an ability to get lower‑priced gas, either depending on what your system portfolio is, as well as what your ‑‑ what you can call upon through your risk management accounts?


MR. SIMPSON:  I'm not sure I understand the question.  Sorry.


MR. DINGWALL:  Is there any impact on the risk management activities with respect to the spot gas that you acquire? 


MR. SIMPSON:  No.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  From the customers' perspective, what portion of the actual rate riders does the PGVA make up?


MS. PIETT:  I can't answer that.  I know it would be a significant amount.  I don't know what percentage, exactly.


MR. DINGWALL:  But I take it that on a quarterly basis, or however frequently you deal with these accounts, there are some accounts which are ‑‑ which add on to the amount of the rate rider, and there are other accounts which detract from the amount of the rate rider.  Would you agree with that statement?


MS. PIETT:  There would be times when that would happen.


MR. DINGWALL:  So in looking at column E, that's not the rate rider that customers actually see at the end of the day, is it?


MS. PIETT:  No.  It is a portion of the rate rider.


MR. DINGWALL:  So that we have an understanding of what the total rate rider is, is it ‑‑


MS. PIETT:  The total rate rider is included in our QRAM filing.  So that is available publicly.


As I explained yesterday, we didn't rejig the entire QRAM process for each of these quarters, because it was a very large exercise to do.  So what we tried to do is be helpful and just provide the information on the PGVA accounts, knowing that that was where the risk management activity would affect.


MR. DINGWALL:  I'm just going to take a moment to go over my notes.  It may be to the benefit of this room.


MS. NOWINA:  That's fine, Mr. Dingwall.


MR. DINGWALL:  I want to understand one of your earlier answers, Ms. Piett.


You mentioned, and I'm trying to understand the distinction between, the setting of the WACOG, which is the base QRAM price, and the impact of risk management.  In looking at the differences between column A and column B, they seem somewhat insignificant.


MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry, Mr. Dingwall, I assume you're looking at M1.9?


MR. DINGWALL:  I am, Mr. Smith.  I think I'm the first one to call you Mr. Smith in this hearing.


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Crawford is okay, too.  No comments from anyone else.


[Laughter]


MR. WARREN:  He will answer to anything.


[Laughter]


MS. PIETT:  I'm not sure what your question was.  I thought you made a statement.


MR. DINGWALL:  Would you agree with me that there is not much difference between column A and column B?


MS. PIETT:  There is 1.5 percent difference on average.


MR. DINGWALL:  Would you agree with me that in the absence of the forecasted risk management being included in the WACOG, that it appears that there is very little impact on whatever smoothing effect ‑ I'm speaking specifically with respect to the WACOG ‑ that risk management has on the WACOG?


MS. PIETT:  I agree that ‑‑ I agree with what you're saying.  Just to clarify that the risk management program has a small effect on setting the reference price.


The risk management effect very much affects the PGVA costs and what's deferred in those accounts.


MR. DINGWALL:  It's at the point where we get into the PGVAs that risk management has its most significant effect, in your view?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  Those are my questions.  Thank you, Mr. Smith and panel.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  Mr. Scully, do you have questions?


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. SCULLY:

MR. SCULLY:  Yes I do, Madam Chair.  My first question is for Mr. Smith.


I can't resist the temptation to have counsel testify at a hearing.


You indicated that when the answer to Mr. Dingwall's undertaking was provided, that it would have a different annual consumption.  I think I heard 2,600.  


Looking at the original schedule, it has approximately 3,100 for the south and 3,300 for the north and eastern Ontario.  Are we going to see a differential when we see that undertaking, or are they both going to be 2,600?


MR. SMITH:  Well, allow me to give some evidence.  They are going to be the same, as I understand it, the same in both the north and south, now.


MR. SCULLY:  Thank you.  I'm interested in the ‑‑ I apologize, panel, for being behind your back.  I promise not to make any faces when you are looking the other way.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Scully, perhaps someone would volunteer to switch places with you so you the panel can see you.

     MR. SCULLY:  I would have to take my computer and all and I'm not going to be very long. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Panel, I don't mind if you swing around a 

little bit so you can see him.  

     MR. SCULLY:  I'm looking, first, in the case filing, at Exhibit D3, tab 2, schedule 4.  D3, tab 2, schedule 4, which relates to the cost of gas.  

     This is the projection of the cost of gas for the year 2000.  I thought I had 2007, but I have 2006.  

     MR. SIMPSON:  Can I clarify, is that D3, tab 2, schedule 4?  

     MR. SCULLY:  Yes.  

     MR. SIMPSON:  Okay, we have that.  

     MR. SCULLY:  And line 9 of that particular schedule has impact of risk management.  And it has a total, in the final column, of 5,206,000.  

     MS. PIETT:  I see that number.  I believe it is on line 8.  

     MR. SCULLY:  Line 8, I'm sorry.  And I went back to a couple of your QRAM filings to check and see what that impact was, and if you can just take it subject to check.  In your QRAM filing for April of this year, the number was $8,204,000 dollars.  And for the January QRAM it was $118,000.  Do those figures sound vaguely familiar?  

     MS. PIETT:  They don't sound familiar, but I appreciate that the number may change from quarter to quarter when we filed this with our QRAM. 

     MR. SCULLY:  Because as I understand it, it is a projection of what you see as the impact of the risk management in the next 12 months each time you file a QRAM?  

     MS. PIETT:  Yes.  It is what we know at the time that we are filing this.  So you will notice on line 8, that the first four columns of data are fairly small, are 100,000 or less.  

     Then once you get to November '05, they jump up to around 700,000 or 800,000.  From that point on, that's our forecast of costs of risk management, assuming a certain percentage that we would hedge.    

     The first four numbers are low, I presume because we were anticipating some settlements in those first four months.  So the total is five million, that would be net of some settlements in the first four months, and after that, costs.  

     MR. SCULLY:  Okay.  But the figure that sort of sticks in my mind here is that when you were doing it in January, somehow or other you were able to say it was somewhere around 100,000 bucks was the float.  How would it have gotten that low?  Was there some particular reason at that time you had x-ray vision for ten months and you knew you were going to be pretty close. 

     MS. PIETT:  You lost me on the times, I'm sorry.  In January -- 

     MR. SCULLY:  Sorry.  The 118,000 dollars total was for your January 1, '06 projection.  

     MS. PIETT:  Oh, I see.  

     MR. SMITH:  Sorry, is Mr. Scully referring to the QRAM?  

     MR. SCULLY:  QRAM filing, yes. 

     MR. SMITH:  The witnesses don't have that.  

     MR. SCULLY:  Okay.  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I think maybe absent the detail, as Ms. Piett said, directionally what may have occurred was that the first few months settlements might have been quite beneficial.  

     So it is just a matter of what's best available information at the time would have been used at QRAM.  This QRAM and every QRAM going forward.     

     MR. SCULLY:  I apologize for bouncing around to different applications, but I tried to understand what finally happens with this risk management cost and how it ends up with the customer, on what basis.  

     And I took a look in your EB-2006-0057 filing, which you made recently, which is let's settle up all deferral accounts for all of 2005.  I looked around for the risk management settlement thing and there is nothing there.  

     So am I correct that this is just sort of an ongoing number?  It's whatever it turns out to be over the future period of time?  

     MS. PIETT:  Risk management is included -- the effect of risk management is included in the PGVA accounts.  And the PGVA accounts are cleared quarterly.  So they would show up at a year-end final adjustment of any deferred accounts.   

     MR. SCULLY:  I'm looking around for an answer as to whether there is a period at which the buck has adhered at which to stop.  You're spending a lot of dollars, it looks like, or there are a lot of dollars outstanding on risk management.  And what I see is that there is never a point at which the Board gets to say, well, you're out of the ballpark there.  That was far too much money.  Or you've done a great job.  

     Is there any point at which that happens?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I think, back to the 0063 case, the Board gave its endorsement of the program in large, and then empowered effectively Union to do the best of its abilities to fulfil that plan.  So that is what we've done on an ongoing basis.       

In terms of checks and balances on risk management, arguably it is updates within -- and granted they're embedded within the PGVA accounts, when actual settlements come to fruition, and it is also available in the QRAM filings, at least on a projected basis for costs.  

     Those are what I would argue are the two reference points for validation.  

     In terms of, shall we stop or shouldn't we, arguably I think that is the issue at hand here today.  

     MR. SCULLY:  Well, I guess I feel that there's a bit of a gap here, but maybe that's something either in argument or something that will get examined in the generic hearing on QRAM.  So those conclude my questions.  Thank you.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Scully.  

     Before we turn to Mr. Millar, is there anyone who would like to examine this panel who has not yet done so?  

     MR. DINGWALL:  I just have one point of clarification. 

     MS. NOWINA:  All right Mr. Dingwall. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  In requesting the undertaking with respect to the Alberta prices, my intention was to match the prices being requested to the periods that would lead into the QRAM.  So what that does is, by only going back to January '03, it doesn't give us the monthly prices that would have been considered in arriving at the January '03 ones, as there would be a couple of months before that.  

     MS. NOWINA:  So you would like December and November?  

     MR. DINGWALL:  I wonder if Mr. Simpson has any comments as to which months I would need.  

     MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.  I think the undertaking exponentially increased, if I understood the question correctly.  Because January '03 when a QRAM, per se, was struck, it would have had a forward projection of 12 separate months.  So it's very different to ask what was the Alberta price in January, versus what were the 12 underpinning months that created the January WACOG.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  No I don't want to go into the calculation of WACOG.  I want to compare WACOG to the -- I think we will be fine with January '03 because what I am looking at is comparing the market prices during the period that the WACOG would have been in effect, with the WACOG.  So I don't need the underpinning numbers.  We're fine with January '03. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  

All right.  Mr. Millar.  

     MR. SMITH:  Sorry, just before Mr. Millar begins.  I just want to advise the Board, Mr. Goulden is just going to excuse himself to go grab the rate design people.  I'm assuming Mr. Millar is not going to be too long.  I suppose I'm a little bit in the Board's hands, assuming we were going to break at 12:30. I thought we could start our rate design panel, but I'm ‑‑ they're here.  I can call them.  It's entirely up to you.


MS. NOWINA:  If we go more than 15 minutes, so we have less than a half hour with them, Mr. Smith, we will probably break for lunch first.  So Mr. Millar has a few questions.  The Board panel has a few questions, about 15 minutes.  That is probably about right.  So you're probably right, we can get a half hour in with them.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Millar.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLAR:

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, panel.  I'm Michael Millar.  I'm counsel for Board Staff.  I've been crossing off a number of my questions as my friends have examined you, so I don't think I will be too long, although maybe a bit scattered, because I'm looking at a number of areas.


The first documents I will refer you to are M1.9, M1.10 and M2.2.  I'm sure you have them in front of you.  


Looking first at M1.9, some of this may be review, but I just want to make sure I'm entirely clear.


It is my understanding that the purpose of this chart is to show the price volatility as it is experienced by customers, rather than by the utility itself; is that correct?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And for that reason, we see the first column is effective date.  You've set -- these dates are mostly the QRAM dates; is that right?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  That's because that's when the price is actually set for the customers?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  I notice, however, that the very first three numbers ‑‑ as I understand it, the QRAM is set in January, April, July and October of every year; is that correct?


MS. PIETT:  Generally, that's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And I notice in '03, we have dates for March and May, rather than April.  Can you explain why, for that year, we don't have April?


MS. PIETT:  In 2003, there was a different QRAM process, and at that time we changed our rates as a result of a trigger process.  So that's why they have different dates for changes than you see from 2004 and beyond.


MR. MILLAR:  I see.  That's very helpful.  So the dates that we do have here, even though there are five in 2003, those are the QRAM prices that were paid by ‑‑ that were reflected in customers 'rates?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  That's very helpful.


Again, still looking at these charts, when we look at M1.9, I think one of the key numbers certainly is the number -- the minus 16 percent we see in the bottom right hand.  Again, this may be by way of review, but I just wanted to confirm, once again, that this 16 percent refers to the reduction in volatility of the rate rider itself?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And if we look at M2.2, which we were discussing earlier today, we see the number minus 1 percent.  If I heard you correctly, you explained this morning that that is the reduction in volatility to the commodity cost itself, as paid by the customer; is that correct?


MS. PIETT:  It's not quite correct.  It is the reduction in the volatility of the rate rider, as a total of the commodity cost.


MR. MILLAR:  I see.  But it relates to the ‑‑


MS. PIETT:  So it doesn't relate to the fact that the commodity cost itself may have changed from quarter to quarter.


MR. MILLAR:  Oh, I see.


MS. PIETT:  It's a small nuance.  This is the size of the rate rider that changed.


MR. MILLAR:  I understand.  But it refers to the commodity and not, for example, the transportation or the delivery costs?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  So if we were to look at an individual customer's bill, there wouldn't be ‑‑ of course the overall bill is made up of commodity and transportation and delivery, and some other things.  As I understand it, the commodity portion is probably ‑‑ it fluctuates from year to year.  But am I right in saying it is probably around 60 to 65 percent of the bill?


MS. PIETT:  Approximately, that's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  So if we look at ‑‑ I think we probably agree that the number the customer cares about most is the number that is at the bottom of the bill, rather than the individual components that make up the bill.  If we looked at the bottom ‑‑ the final number on a customer's bill, is it fair to say we wouldn't be looking at a reduction in volatility of 1 percent.  It would be something about 0.6 percent, because we're only looking at commodity here?


MS. PIETT:  That's correct, I believe.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  And just while we have these out, I'm looking at M1.10 and M1.9.  I notice that M1.9 starts in January '03, whereas M1.10 starts back in '98.  I'm just wondering if there is any reason that they don't start on the same date?


MS. PIETT:  What we provided here was the information that we had readily available to us, and we have been tracking the impact of risk management back to 1999 ‑‑ 1998, pardon me.  So that's why you have the information you have on M1.10.


M1.9, that was looking at a different database of information, and we had that readily available from January '03 and on.  However, because it was quarterly, it gave 14 data points, and we thought that was sufficient enough to provide a trend that would be helpful.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  We've already heard from some of the other counsel and from you, as well, about the availability that customers have to enter the equal billing plan, and Ms. DeMarco also pointed out that a customer is free to go with a marketer if they choose, Directs Energy or something like that.


I think you have agreed that customers do have those options which would have the effect of reducing their volatility ‑‑ the volatility of their prices.  Would you agree with that?


MS. PIETT:  They do have those options, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  I think your own charts have shown that the QRAMs have a fairly significant impact on volatility, absent other risk management activities.  Would you agree with that?


MS. PIETT:  The QRAM has the effect of smoothing out the bill payments that customers make.  It doesn't affect the cost of gas and the impact of risk management on reducing the peaks and valleys of our cost of gas.


MR. MILLAR:  Right.  But, again, you're not trying to beat the market with your risk management, either.  Risk management doesn't ultimately affect the ‑‑ it's not designed to ultimately affect the price of gas, is it?  It is just intended to smooth?


MS. PIETT:  Over time, the mark to market will be zero.  But if you think of a particular quarter, for instance last winter, it had the recipe there to be a very large volatile winter.


With the shut-ins that occurred as a result of the hurricanes, with 20 percent of the Gulf out over the year, had we had a very cold winter, we would have seen a very different mark to market, I believe; a very different volatile picture this winter.  The fact that the winter was warm eased a lot of the stress that was placed on the system at the time.  It could have been a very different picture this winter.


So when I look at these quarters for risk management, it's one thing to average them to get to the bottom to say, Well, there's a reduction in 16 percent of the rate rider.  I think it is also important to look at the individual quarters, because that is what risk management is there to do, to shave off the ultimate peaks and valleys.


MR. MILLAR:  I guess what you're saying is that QRAM does have a smoothing effect, but risk management, I guess, to the extent it is different, it takes a longer-term view; would that be accurate?


MS. PIETT:  Risk management does take a longer-term view.  It also shaves off the actual peaks and valleys of the costs that get spread to customers in the PGVA.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.


MS. PIETT:  So risk management will affect the actual prices that we pay for gas.  PGVA and the QRAM process just spreads out whatever costs we pay.  It will just spread that out over 12 months.  It's more of a payment plan.


MR. MILLAR:  I think a number of the other counsel have sort of been -- and all of us, to some extent, have been dancing around what may be the ultimate question on this.  I guess as Board counsel, I am kind of allowed to ask it.


It seems to me what people are getting at is, if you take into account we have the option of equal billing plan, we have the option of going to a marketer and we have QRAM, whether they want it or not, to what extent is the risk management program redundant, when we look at those three other factors?


MR. SIMPSON:  I don't think it's redundant at all.  Hopefully what's been conveyed in the 0063 case was that these types of things are complementary.  There's no new evidence, in this case, as it relates to risk management.


There are measures that we've discussed and looked at, but in terms of changes to the plan, there's none.


So we rely heavily upon that decision 0063 to guide us in using risk management.


What Ms. Piett, I think, said, and I am going to highlight, is to look at the bottom and say, Well, over the long term it's of marginal impact.  Well, that's correct.  That won't cut it in terms of an answer to the benefit it provides in one particular quarter, when you have shaved the equivalent of $50 a year out of someone's bill.  


Now, granted, when the price is falling, it might be a little bit more costly than it would have otherwise been, but I know that it's always a lot easier to explain that your price is going down, but not just quite as much as it would have otherwise, than it is to have price spikes that would be potentially placed fully upon ratepayers.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  That actually leads me to my next question.  

     I'm not sure to what extent you followed Enbridge's last rates case.  Are you at least generally familiar with that and the risk management portion?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I'm familiar with some of it, yes.  

     MR. MILLAR:  You may be aware or you're probably aware, as part of their rates case Enbridge filed I don't know if you would call it a study, it was more of a survey they had done of customers.  And it sought to determine customers' tolerance for price volatility.  And to sort of -- to sum up the bottom line on this survey, I think what they found was -- and I encourage you to go to the survey itself, don't necessarily take my word for it -- but generally what they found were customers were more or less 

comfortable with price swings of about $75, a band of about $75.  And beyond that, they got uncomfortable.  So they 

supported risk management to the extent that it could smooth the prices to be within that band of $75.  

     Are you familiar with that survey or are have you seen it?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I have perused it in fact wrote myself a 

couple of notes, interestingly enough not that one.  Because that related to triggers and that is just almost foreign to me, because our program isn't built that way.       I did capture two other percentages that I thought were 

relevant.  57 percent said maintaining a steady price was very important to them.  As well, only 15 percent said, do nothing.  Don't manage the price at all.  15 percent said, do nothing.       

To me those facts speak volumes.  Customers are saying, help control, to some extent, my price, my volatility.  

     I would offer another survey which was presented in the Natural Gas Forum on behalf of Union, where 73 percent said, they take peace of mind in not having unexpected changes in their bill.  

     So not all of these data points are perfectly relevant to Union's risk management program, but I think they're directionally relevant to customers' expectations. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Now, I think if we look at both that 57 percent you referenced and the 73 percent you referenced, as I recall -- and you may correct me if you think I'm wrong -- but as I recall, the survey was done on all customers and it didn't break out customers who were already on the equal billing plan and were already using an energy marketer such as Direct Energy or something like that.  

     Is that your recollection as well?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I do recollect there was some discussion in the Enbridge case around who was included in the survey.  I can tell you, though for Union's survey, the 73 percent done in November of ‘04 was just sales service customers. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So that -- did that include equal 

billing customers?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  That, I don't know.  But only a third of our customers are on equal billing anyway.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So it may have included equal billing but it did not include people who got their commodity from someone else?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.  It was only Union's sales service customers. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  That's helpful.  In fact you sort of anticipated my question.  My question was going to be:  Has Union done any similar studies to this one that was done by Enbridge.  You've already told us about one for the NGF.  Is there any other customer feedback or data you can point to in support of a risk management program?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  There is not a survey.  But what I would 

offer, and I think we would be remiss in stepping back, is 

there's a lot of experience at Union Gas.  It has 1.2 million customers.  

     We're covering from Windsor to Thunder Bay, to Cornwall.  And we have a lot of presence in the marketplace.  And I haven't had too many customers that have fed back through to me they wish their price would swing much more wildly than it does.  I mean, it just -- I'm not making light of it.  I'm just suggesting that 

experience and common sense says that, to the extent that you can help control some of that price, I think is a positive thing.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Moving on to the next area.  

     I'm getting very close to the end.  I think we heard on Tuesday that the budget essentially for the risk management program is, it's about $100,000.  Is that right?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  That was, yes, that was referred to as the O&M costs that's built into the gas supply charge.  

     MR. MILLAR:  As I understand it, that's the cost of a single employee who does risk management activities?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I relayed earlier with Ms. DeMarco, it's the cost that is in the gas supply charge.  I think it is largely that single individual, but I don't know the complete and full breakdown.  

     MR. MILLAR:  And does that -- it is, we're talking about not one equivalent employee.  It is one actual employee; is that right?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  That's right.  Within my group working for Ms. Piett is one individual that is focussed predominantly on risk management activity.  

     MR. MILLAR:  What does that person do, as his or her risk management activities, that is different from what your other gas supply people do?  I assume you have any number of people working in gas supply.  Could you give me an idea of how many people working in gas supply? 

     MR. SIMPSON:  Within my group directly, there is 

approximately 17. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Does that include this one person?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, it does.  

     To answer your question, because their role is so focussed and in a sense micro on risk management and the tools that we use, they would undertake conversations within the marketplace that others wouldn't.  For example, working with our banks or our other counterparts, trying to find out what tools are best used in certain market conditions; those simply just wouldn't be discussions other employees would have.  

     MR. MILLAR:  So there are clearly delineated activities for this one employee?  They would be doing things that your other employees are not doing?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.  

     MR. MILLAR:  This $100,000, Ms. Piett I believe 

earlier today mentioned that one of the things that they would be involved in, I think, would be doing -- forgive me because I don't understand the terminology very well -- but doing something like a call or an option or something like that.  I think you mentioned there were premiums associated with -- is the terminology taking out a call or option on a call. 

     MS. PIETT:  Buying a call. 

     MR. MILLAR:  You mentioned there are premiums associated with doing that.  

     MS. PIETT:  That's correct.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Are these premiums, would they be included in the $100,000?  I guess what I'm asking, is the -- absent the cost for the employee, are the costs of the risk management activity itself reflected in that $100,000?  Or are they found somewhere else?  

     MS. PIETT:  The risk management premiums refers to the cost of actually buying a call or a put, or selling a put would be a revenue to us, actually.  

     And those costs and revenues are included in the mark to market, which is included in the PGVA deferral accounts.  And to the extent we know, it is also included in the Alberta Board of Reference Price. 

     MR. MILLAR:  So those are costs that if you weren't doing risk management at all, those costs wouldn't be there; is that right? 

     MS. PIETT:  That's right. 

     MR. MILLAR:  These are costs, I think you just said, that would be in addition to the $100,000?  

     MS. PIETT:  That's correct.  

MS. NOWINA:  Excuse me.  I just want to clarify, from the customer's point of view, those show in the commodity costs; is that correct?  

     MS. PIETT:  That's correct they do. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Are you able to give any indication as to how much money we're talking about here?  

     MS. PIETT:  Yes, I can.  The net of the premiums and the settlements is exactly what you see in the mark to market line of M1.10.  So that is the net of the premiums and the settlements, whether they be positive or negative.  

     MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, can you point me to that again?  

     MS. PIETT:  On M1.9 -- pardon me.  M1.10. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay. 

     MS. PIETT:  On the mark to market section of that page. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  

     MS. PIETT:  You will see in 1998 a negative 3.5 million.  That is the net of the premiums and the settlements.  

     MR. MILLAR:  I see.  If we add it all up between '98 and 2005, we get negative 8.7 million, am I reading that correctly?  

     MS. PIETT:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. MILLAR:  So in fairness, those are costs of the risk management program, costs you wouldn't incur if you weren't doing risk management?  

     MS. PIETT:  That's correct.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  

     MR. SIMPSON:  If I might just elaborate, because that's the running total figure.  

     So for example, if you had not done risk management in 2005, the cost actually would have been 9.9 million higher.  

     MR. MILLAR:  That's right.  There seems to be a fair 

amount of swing from year to year.  You get all the way from minus 65.5 in 2001 to a positive 41.6 in 2000. 

     MR. SIMPSON:  Right.  And directionally, it has changed over time but spending a billion dollars a year on natural gas, hence why it rounds to zero percent, which effectively means there's virtually no cost.  

     MR. MILLAR:  I guess there's virtually no cost.  But there -- there's still 8.7 million in cost.  

     MR. SIMPSON:  But I think it is clear to understand my 

point, next summer that number, if the price rises and some of these options pay out, you could be saving the customers, like in 2003, maybe next year is a $30 million advantage to clients. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Then you would be well over.  You would be well into the positive. 

     MR. SIMPSON:  Right. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Currently it stands as minus 8.7. 

     MR. SIMPSON:  Right.  But it is incorrect to assume you will save 8.7 million for customers if you stop the risk management plan.  


MR. MILLAR:  I understand.  Thank you.  My final question.  I would like to take you to -- Ms. DeMarco filed M2.3 this morning, which is an excerpt from the Natural Gas Forum.  I just wanted to ask a very quick follow-up question to that.


If you would turn to page 73, which we referred to earlier.


MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  The first sentence there reads:   

"Given the importance of security of supply and to provide greater clarity in the marketplace, the Board will offer utilities the opportunity to apply for pre-approval of long‑term supply and/or transportation contracts."


I think Ms. DeMarco was questioning you about this passage in relation to your proposed 24-month fixed-cost purchase plan.


And I think you agreed with her that you're not proposing a specific contract here.  I guess the appropriate word is a "plan"; is that correct?


MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.  What I gleaned from that statement ‑‑ and it does obviously state contracts, but ultimately I'm gleaning that it is the cost consequence impact of those types of contracts.  So within our program, we don't have a 24-month contract that we're going to RFP in the marketplace.  What we have is a plan that we will employ and utilize and we will follow by, in fact, RFPing like we do all of our transactions in the marketplace and acquiring market-sensitive rates that we would then seek for ultimate cost recovery at an appropriate time.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Was it in response to this sentence or this paragraph that you brought this 24‑month fixed-cost purchase plan to the Board as part of this application?


MR. SIMPSON:  I think it was.  And we participated in the Natural Gas Forum.  So it would be too small to say this line drove us to this conclusion.  It was really participation in the Forum, and the intent and outcome of the Forum itself that drove us to that.


MR. MILLAR:  Let me put it another way.  If there hadn't been a Natural Gas Forum, would you have brought this plan forward as part of this rates application?


MR. SIMPSON:  I guess the way that I would answer that is, when we sat here in the 0063 case and worked with our consultant, RMI, we talked at length about what would engage us in risk management activity, when we would do activity and how much.  It was driven by two things, one being time.  If you ran out of time, you better start by this date and ramp up.  But if there happened to be value in the forward market, based on history, maybe you would buy one or two or three years out, based on that historical value.


What's transpired is that historical value isn't seen going forward, because prices have done nothing but rise.  That, and the market conditions, really precipitated our proposal in 24‑month.


So absent the NGF, we wouldn't have been able to buy fixed-price gas, anyway, because our Board‑approved plan didn't give us a proper signal to do so, but it was a reflection of the changing market that we thought this was an appropriate time to introduce this plan.  RMI supports that it is like and similar throughout the industry, and then back to the NGF which did occur, made it all the more reasonable to bring forward.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions, thank you.


MR. ADAMS:  Madam Chair, I wonder if I could seek a procedural clarification just following up on the questions that Mr. Millar was asking.  


In Energy Probe Interrogatory J10.8, we asked:   

"Please produce any public opinion survey Union has commissioned dealing with risk management."


The answer that we got back was:   

"Union has not commissioned any public opinion survey specifically dealing with risk management."


Mr. Simpson gave a very useful, interesting answer with regard ‑‑ and drew reference to a 2004 study, but I'm not sure if that study is properly in evidence, in this case.


I would just like to get some clarification as to how we can identify that study and perhaps review it for the purposes of argument.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Smith.


MR. SMITH:  Well, I'm quite prepared to produce it.  I think Union is still of the view that the answer to the interrogatory is correct, because that wasn't the purpose for which the study was prepared.  But I believe we have it available.  Mr. Simpson has referred to it, and we will make it available.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Can we have an undertaking number?


MR. SCHUCH:  Madam Chair, that would be undertaking U2.3.


UNDERTAKING NO. U2.3:  PRODUCTION OF 2004 STUDY

MR. ADAMS:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Does that respond to your issue?  All right.


MR. ADAMS:  Much appreciated.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Smith, do you wish to re‑examine?


MR. SMITH:  I do.  I have two very brief ‑‑ I suppose Mr. Packer raises a good procedural point that I ought to have caught.  I had understood, Madam Chair, that the Board might have some questions.


MS. NOWINA:  We will.


MR. SMITH:  Your intention is to go ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  The way I normally do it, Mr. Smith, is that I will give you an opportunity to re‑examine now, and we ask our questions, and then I will ask you again whether or not you would like to pick up on the questions we ask.


MR. SMITH:  That's quite fine.


RE‑EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH:

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Simpson, Ms. DeMarco asked you a number of questions about who and at what cost you could transact specifically in relation to the 24‑month program.


Do you recall that series of questions?


MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, I do.


MR. SMITH:  And specifically the proposition was put to you with respect to transacting with an affiliate.  Do you recall that?


MR. SIMPSON:  I do.


MR. SMITH:  My recollection or my note of your answer is that there is, in fact, no affiliates with whom you could transact as a result of your policy and the credit requirements; is that correct?


MR. SIMPSON:  There is no affiliates with respect to our financial risk management counterparties that hold the ISDAs, ISDAs that we referred to earlier.


MR. SMITH:  Now, quite apart from that obstacle, would any of these transactions or would all of the transactions be subject, in any event, to the Affiliate Relationships Code?


MR. SIMPSON:  Absolutely.


MR. SMITH:  Now, with respect to the cost of those transactions, are you asking for approval to buy gas at a price above market?


MR. SIMPSON:  Absolutely not, and I hope I didn't convey that to the Board.


What we're obviously seeing approval for here is implementation of the plan.  We don't know what the forward prices are, but we do know that the plan is intended to layer in these purchases over a 24-month span.


We will pay prevailing market prices based on our normal RFP process at that time.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much.  Panel, those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  Mr. Sommerville.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Smith, the question that I have relates to the extent to which the 24‑month fixed-cost purchase plan is currently authorized pursuant to the risk management program that the Board approved in 0063.


Is it your evidence -‑ I'm just not sure.  Given the exchange with Ms. DeMarco on this subject, I'm just not sure whether it is your evidence that it is your view that the 24-month fixed-cost plan is fully authorized pursuant to the existing risk management program.  Could you clarify that for me?


MR. SIMPSON:  Certainly.  What is, in our opinion, part of the plan, as shown earlier and approved, is the use of financial swaps.  So that's just the tool.


The 24‑month plan that we've created, per se, is not approved within the plan.  The use of the tool to fulfil that program is available.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  In fact, the plan doesn't specify what specific transactions.  It authorizes different methods, including the financial instrument method, as well as the calls and the ^collars and so on.


So your evidence is that because the existing plan, the approved plan, comprehended financial instruments, as well as the premium‑laden instruments that Ms. Piett spoke to, that it is fully authorized under the current program?


MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  I am going to follow up on that question, Mr. Simpson, just to be very clear.


So regarding what you believe your current authorization is, aside from the Natural Gas Forum statements, there are no limitations regarding volumes or time frames that this plan would impose?


MR. SIMPSON:  I think that's correct.  The plan, as it's been filed, is a high‑level plan.  As it was just stated, some of the micro details of how we fulfil our purchases and risk management tools are not articulated within that plan.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, thank you.  Let's discuss for a moment the costs of the plan.  You talked about cost recovery and the Natural Gas Forum; your interpretation of that is bringing forth plans, especially regarding cost recovery.  I am assuming those costs would show within the commodity cost of the consumer, and not anywhere in distribution rate costs?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  That's absolutely correct.  

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  My final question is, taking a bit of a different tact.  No one has gone here, I don't think, so apologies for that at this late moment.  

     Most of the questions have been focussed on -- and I think correctly so especially given the interest that the Board showed in the Enbridge case -- they have been focussed on the impact, direct impact to customers on commodity costs or commodity volatility.  And that's helpful.  But I do have another question that we really haven't gone.       

I am interested in whether the volatility to Union's cash requirements, that I am supposing the risk management plan assists with, whether or not the management of that volatility has some indirect benefit to Union's customers.  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I might need to break your question down. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Sure.  

     MR. SIMPSON:  As prices ebb and flow, the price that we would pay to our suppliers, ebbs and flows equally.  All of those costs we seek recovery through in the QRAM.  

     Is your question pertinent, then, to the 24-month proposal? 

     MS. NOWINA:  No.  It's not.  I'm talking here about the risk management plan, the risk management overall and its value to customers as opposed to the shareholders.  So we have talked about the direct value to the customers in terms of managing the volatility.  I'm wondering if there is an indirect value that we have not discussed here, and the one that comes to mind, for me, is the cash management of the company itself.  And the cash requirements of the company.  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I will do my best to respond directionally.  I'm not a finance expert, but I do know that what we achieve through risk management is shaving of the peaks.  

     So if we isolate what comes as a result of that, there would be less costs paid during those peak periods by the utility.  And to the extent that, in the finance end of the spectrum, there is a correlation between our costs and cash flow and customers' advantages or disadvantages, that, I suppose, would prevail.  

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  

     Mr. Smith?  

     MR. SMITH:  Just one moment, Madam Chair.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Certainly.  

     MR. SMITH:  I have no further questions.  I don't think I can -- I may have a question, but I don't think I can even get the answer to it in a necessary and reasonable period of time, so I have no further questions.  

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you very much.  With that, panel, you are excused.  You have done an excellent job.  Thank you very much.  

     It's only -- 

     MR. SMITH:  The cup runneth over.  

     MS. NOWINA:  It is only 15 minutes.  I think perhaps we won't proceed with the other panel.  We will break for lunch now and we will resume at 1:30.  

     MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much.  

     --- Luncheon recess taken at 12:15 p.m. 


‑‑‑ Upon resuming at 1:30 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  A couple of administrative matters that I don't usually have to deal with.  Well, the one that I do deal with is Mr. Sommerville and I have coffee here, and that means that it is open to the rest of you do that.  But don't everyone run out of the room right now.


MR. KITCHEN:  Can you let us know when you have wine?


MS. NOWINA:  We may come to that.  That's the first.  


The second is my apologies for the construction.  I hope everyone recognizes this is not the way we normally do business, and I realize that the construction is getting ‑‑ making life more and more difficult, so I am to tell you that there are washrooms on the sixth floor, that if you take the elevators there, you can get up there and you can get back down again.  However, if you take the stairwell and get in, you may not be able to take the stairwell back or be able to take the stairwell out, so that's hopefully useful to you.  


Also, I would like to mention what we plan to do with argument and take your submissions, if you have a problem with it.


We're assuming that we will be finished the evidentiary portion of this hearing tomorrow. We may not, and we will take whatever time is needed, but on the assumption we will do that, we would like to hear all argument orally on Tuesday.  You may make submissions on that right now, if you need to, or if you would like to take some time to think about it and like to make submissions after break, that's fine, as well.  I wanted to inform you of that now.


MR. SMITH:  That's certainly acceptable from the company's perspective.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  Are there any other preliminary matters?  Mr. Smith.


MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, if I may call Union's next panel to deal with the remaining issues relating to rate design, Mr. Mark Kitchen and Mr. Russell Feingold.


MS. NOWINA:  Certainly.  Come forward, gentlemen.  We will have you sworn.


UNION GAS LIMITED - PANEL 2:


Russell A. Feingold; Sworn.


Mark Kitchen; Sworn.


MS. NOWINA:  You can go ahead, Mr. Smith.


EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH:

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Kitchen, I understand that you are the manager of rates and pricing of Union Gas Limited?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  You have held that position since 2002?


MR. KITCHEN:  That is correct.


MR. SMITH:  And I understand you have a master's in economics from the University of Waterloo?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  Which you obtained in 1987?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  You have a bachelor of arts in economics and Russian studies which you obtained in 1985?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.  


MR. SMITH:  I understand you have been employed by Union Gas continuously since 1993?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And you have held a number of positions with Union Gas over that time period?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, I have.


MR. SMITH:  In particular, I understand that you were the manager of product and service costing between 1999 and 2002?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And the evidence at Exhibit H relating to rate design, was that prepared by you or under your supervision?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, it was.


MR. SMITH:  To the extent there were interrogatories asked in respect of that evidence, were answers to those questions prepared by you or under your supervision?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, they were.


MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that evidence for purposes of your testimony here today?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Feingold, do you have with you your curriculum vitae?  It was marked in this proceeding while you were out of the room as Exhibit M2.1.


MR. FEINGOLD:  I do.


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Feingold, I understand that you are a managing director of Navigant Consulting?


MR. FEINGOLD:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  At Navigant, you are responsible for directing the firm's regulatory advisory and litigation group in the firm's energy practice?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And you have held that position since 1996?


MR. FEINGOLD:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And prior to that, you worked for R.J. Rudden Associates?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  You worked for R.J. Rudden, as I understand it, between 1990 and 1996?


MR. FEINGOLD:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  Before that, you worked for PricewaterhouseCoopers.


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  That was from 1985 to 1990?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, although at that time it was just Price Waterhouse.


MR. SMITH:  I apologize.  And you worked for Stone & Webster Consultants before that, from 1978 to 1985?


MR. FEINGOLD:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  You began your career with the Port Authority of New York and New Jersey?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.  


MR. SMITH:  You have a master's in science and financial management from the Polytechnic Institute of New York?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, I do.


MR. SMITH:  You obtained that designation in 1977?


MR. FEINGOLD:  That is correct.


MR. SMITH:  You have a bachelor's in science and electrical engineering from Washington University?


MR. FEINGOLD:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And you obtained that in 1973?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  You are a financial associate member of the American Gas Association?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I am.


MR. SMITH:  And you are a member, rate and strategic issues committee, of the American Gas Association?  


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And a member of the Energy Bar Association?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  Now, Mr. Feingold, in your capacities at Navigant and earlier in your career, have you been involved in providing advice and consulting services in respect of rate design issues?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, I have.  The majority of my career has been focussed on utility rate design, rate-making and regulatory issues, which of course also involve the costing of utility services, as well.


MR. SMITH:  And that dates back at least as far as 1978; is that correct?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, it does.


MR. SMITH:  So is it fair to say that since that time, I suppose some 28 years, the majority of your practice would have been involved in advising clients or consulting on rate design and costing issues?


MR. FEINGOLD:  It has been.


MR. SMITH:  I understand that you have been qualified and testified as an expert witness before numerous regulatory bodies, testifying on the issues of cost allocation and rate design?


MR. FEINGOLD:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And without going through them all, I understand you have testified before FERC?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, I have.


MR. SMITH:  The BC Utilities Commission?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  The California Public Utilities Commission?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  The Manitoba Public Utilities Board?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And you have also been qualified and testified as an expert in front of this Board?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, I have.


MR. SMITH:  And of the number of times that you have testified before regulatory bodies, are you in a position to advise this Board what proportion of those times would have been in relation to rate design?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.  Of the roughly 85 rate proceedings that I have been involved in throughout my career, roughly 85 percent of those have been directly related to topics that I have testified to on rate design and cost allocation for utilities.


MR. SMITH:  And you mentioned, Mr. Feingold, that you testified before this Board.  Was that in respect of a rate design issue?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, it was.  Four times it dealt with rate design issues.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much.  At page 8 of your curriculum vitae, I don't intend to go through them all, but there are a number of publications and presentations.  Is it fair to say that you have also written extensively on the issue of rate design?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, I have.


MR. SMITH:  And I understand that you are an instructor at the University of Wisconsin Graduate School of Business teaching in the area of rate design?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.  The American Gas Association sponsors an annual course that teaches gas rate fundamentals.  I have been the course organizer and speaker on the design of distribution company rates since 1985.


MR. SMITH:  Finally, you are a technical editor, as I understand it, on a textbook on rate design?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.  The American Gas Association periodically issues a textbook called Gas Rate Fundamentals.  I was the technical reviewer of that document, as well as an author of one of the chapters.


MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, I would like to tender Mr. Feingold as an expert qualified to provide opinion evidence to this Board on the matters of rate design and cost allocation.


MS. NOWINA:  Does anyone have a submission on Mr. Feingold's status as an expert witness?


The Board accepts Mr. Feingold as an expert.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much.  Just briefly, I do have some questions in examination in‑chief that I will direct primarily to Mr. Feingold, but also to Mr. Kitchen.


Mr. Feingold, as I understand it, Navigant was retained, pursuant to a request for proposal, to conduct an independent cost allocation and rate design review of the M2 rate class?


MR. FEINGOLD:  That is correct.

     MR. SMITH:  And that request was done pursuant to a direction issued by the Board in RP-2003-0063 for Union to consider separating low volume and high-volume customers currently within the M2 rate class. 

     MR. FEINGOLD:  That is correct. 

     MR. SMITH:  And did you conduct that review, sir?

MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, I did. 

     MR. SMITH:  Did that review result in the report that we find at Exhibit H2, tab 1? 

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.  

     MR. SMITH:  And that report, was that prepared by you or under your supervision? 

     MR. FEINGOLD:  It was.  

     MR. SMITH:  And to the extent there were interrogatories asked in respect of that report, did the answers to those interrogatories, were they prepared by you or under your supervision?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, they were. 

     MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that evidence for purposes of your testimony here today?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  I do.  

     MR. SMITH:  Mr. Feingold, in general terms, can you please tell the Board what recommendation, if any, you have made to Union Gas with respect to splitting the M2 rate class.  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.  Based on the comprehensive review that we conducted, Navigant Consulting recommended to Union that it take its current rate M2 class and split it into two new classes, a small general -- a small general volume service class, new rate M1, and a second class which is a large-volume general service class designated as rate M2.  

     MR. SMITH:  Can you advise the Board, Mr. Feingold again in general terms, how you came to your recommendation.       

MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.  In very general terms, the primary objective that we were seeking to achieve was to develop new rate classes that were more homogenous or more consistent across the customer classes, compared to the current class of customers served under Union's current rate M2.  

     In doing that, we had to look at a number of different 

factors, including load characteristics of the customers, in terms of the nature of the customer; looking at annual 

consumption, monthly consumption; load factor; looking at the underlying costs associated with these customers; and then doing a review of some of the tariffs that were comparable in nature of other utilities in North America.  On that basis, we came to the recommendation that I stated earlier.  

     MR. SMITH:  Mr. Feingold, I take it you're aware that Mr. Paul Chernick has filed a report on behalf of the Schools Energy Coalition responding to the work done by you at Navigant. 

     MR. FEINGOLD:  I am aware of that report.  

     MR. SMITH:  And have you had an opportunity to review it?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, I have.  

     MR. SMITH:  The report, members of the Board, which is at Exhibit K21, Mr. Chernick's report.  At page 7 of that report, if you could turn it up just quickly, Mr. Feingold.  

MR. FEINGOLD:  I have it.  

     MR. SMITH:  Mr. Chernick makes the assertion that 

Navigant's analysis has serious problems, to use his words.  

     And he goes on to list a number of areas.  You're aware of this criticism?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, I am.  

     MR. SMITH:  Do you accept it as valid?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  No, I do not.  

     MR. SMITH:  If we could turn to that first issue identified by Mr. Chernick.  Load factor.  Mr. Chernick had some comments which begin on page 8 of his report.  Are you familiar with his comments with respect to your use of the average February load as a proxy for peak-day usage?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, I am familiar with his comments. 

     MR. SMITH:  Do you accept his comments as valid criticism of your report?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  No, I do not. 

     MR. SMITH:  Why not?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Essentially, because I believe that 

the --      

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, Mr. Feingold.  Madam Chair -- 

     MS. NOWINA:  I'm trying to find the report, yes.  

     MR. SMITH:  I'm not sure that it is necessary to turn it up.  I'm just drawing the report to point out where Mr. Chernick is making certain assertions, but it is located at Exhibit K21.  

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We'll find it later.  Thanks.  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  The reason I disagree with Mr. Chernick's criticism of the load factor determination in my report, is because I believe that for a gas utility such as Union, the use of the peak month consumption as a proxy for load factor is an appropriate and generally-accepted approach.  Let me explain why very briefly.  

     If you were to look at the customers served by Union Gas, a large portion of their load is heat sensitive.  So in the winter months, not surprisingly, they would have their highest consumption of the year.     

     So as a result, they tend to be very weather sensitive and so, in the month of highest consumption, you would expect as a result of that type of customer, that you would see the greatest day of consumption on Union's system as well.       

And so short of having actual metered daily information which a company like Union does not have, nor does many gas utilities have, you are forced to develop a proxy for purposes of deriving a peak and a load factor for customers.       

So because of the weather sensitivity, because of the 

confirmation of the load factors that we develop through review of Union's cost-of-service study, I feel that, in my opinion, the use of the February month is an appropriate basis for developing load factor in this case.  

     MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  You mentioned earlier that your recommendation was to split the existing M2 class into the M1 -- new M1 and new M2 classes at a volume break point of 50,000 cubic metres.  Is that correct?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  That is correct. 

     MR. SMITH:  I understand that your selection of the 50,000 cubic metres as the appropriate break point is also the subject of some criticism by Mr. Chernick.  Are you aware of that?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, I am. 

     MR. SMITH:  Do you accept that criticism?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  No, I do not. 

     MR. SMITH:  Why not?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  The choice of the 50,000 cubic metre breakpoint is a -- was derived from a process of using some of the data that I referred to earlier as well as judgment, on my part, based on the years of experience that I have had in this area.  

     If we think about this for a minute, the challenge we have -- think about two ends of the spectrum.  We could have one rate class for every customer served on a utility, and out of necessity we would have to have many rate blocks to be able to accommodate the various sizes and types of customers.  

     At the other end of the spectrum, we could have one rate class for every customer.  So in this case we're talking about 900,000 rate classes, roughly.  Somewhere in between is the answer that we're seeking.  

     And in deriving that answer, that is, how do you 

appropriately split up the rate M2 class, we had the desire to reach a conclusion that would give us two groupings that were more homogenous in nature than what we had previously with the existing rate.  And in the recommendation that we made to establish that breakpoint at 50,000 cubic metres, we believe that we sufficiently addressed and satisfied that objective of ending up with two classes that were more homogenous in nature and, as a result, the underlying costs was used to serve those customers were more appropriately charged to those two classes.  

     MR. SMITH:  Now, you may have anticipated somewhat what I was going to ask you, but there is also a suggestion that there may be merit in breaking the M2 class into not two subclasses, as it were, but more than two - three or more.  

     Do you see that as an appropriate or valid proposition?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Based on the work that I undertook, I don't see that as a relevant option that should be recommended.  

     Again, we have the two ends of the spectrum that I spoke about earlier.  But in my view, the development of the small-volume general service and large-volume general service that we recommended to Union, sufficiently captures the concepts that we were trying to achieve and I believe meets the threshold objective of ending up with two classes that are more common, in terms of the customers within each class.  And as a result, we can say with a higher degree of confidence that the underlying costs that are used to set the rates in those classes are more reasonable than they were previously when the rate was one class for all.


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Kitchen, just turning to you, there is a criticism in Mr. Chernick's report relating to the allocation of costs, proposed allocation of costs, between the new rate M1 and M2.


Can you provide a response to that?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  I don't agree with Mr. Chernick's evidence.  The methodologies that were used to allocate costs to M1 and M2 are the same methodologies, the same Board‑approved methodologies, that had been used by Union in preparing its cost allocation study.


MR. SMITH:  And, in your view, would additional time afforded to you or consultation with other parties result or would have resulted in a different conclusion?


MR. KITCHEN:  No, it would not.


MR. SMITH:  Specifically, Mr. Kitchen, there is an assertion at page 17 of Mr. Chernick's report that I want to put to you.  He states at page 17, under the first bullet point.  He says:

"For example, given the focus on the differences in load and cost characteristics for residential customers compared to commercial and industrial customers ..."


And this is the part I want you to comment on: 

"... and the fact that most of Union's cost and load data are disaggregated by customer type, Navigant's dismissal of a separate residential rate is not reasonable."


Specifically, does Union disaggregate or collect its cost and load data by customer type?


MR. KITCHEN:  No, it does not.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much.  Finally, Mr. Kitchen, is there any information or is there any data that was provided by Union to Navigant that has not been provided to Mr. Chernick?


MR. KITCHEN:  No, there has not been.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions in examination in‑chief.  I would tender this panel for cross‑examination.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  Can the parties let me know who would like to cross-examine this panel?


MR. WARREN:  I think following my general preference to be the first bug to hit the windscreen, I think I would be number one, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, Mr. Warren.  Maybe I can find out from others how many we're going to have cross‑examining today.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  IGUA would like to follow Mr. Warren, if possible, as the windshield wiper.


[Laughter]


MS. NOWINA:  All right, Mr. Thompson.  I can't imagine, Mr. Buonaguro, what your role would be, then, if you want to go next.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, actually, in terms of issue, most of my questions would have to do with the split.  They have to do with other -‑ well, the fixed charge, in particular.  I think Mr. DeVellis, specifically with the splits, may want to keep the split question ‑‑ split cross‑examination together.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  That makes sense to me.  Mr. DeVellis, you will be cross‑examining on that?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, I will, and my questions will be confined to the issue of the split of the M2 class.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Anyone else?


MR. RYDER:  Yes, City of Kitchener.  My name is Ryder.  I have some questions, but it won't relate to the split.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Ryder, thank you.  


MR. AIKEN:  I also will have questions.  It is Randy Aiken for the LPMA.  They will be on the M2/M1 split and on the fixed charge.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.


MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, I have a number of general questions for the panel, and I have just given them to Mr. Thompson to ask on our behalf for efficiency's sake.  Very small.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.  I'm sure he will do them justice.


MS. YOUNG:  Madam Chair, I will have a handful of questions on the M2 split.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Young.


MR. DINGWALL:  Madam Chair, I may have significantly less than a handful of questions on the split, and I will have no questions ‑ I don't anticipate ‑ with respect to the fixed charge.


MS. NOWINA:  You will have questions and you're not trusting them to Mr. Thompson.


All right.  Now, if I got all of that correct - someone tell me if I'm wrong - Mr. Warren, Mr. Thompson, Mr. Ryder, Mr. Aiken will go first, and then the split group.  Does that work?  Any one in the wrong group?


MR. BUONAGURO:  I didn't catch the first part.  Was I on the list?


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Warren, Mr. Thompson, Mr. Ryder and Mr. Aiken are asking questions on more than the split, so they will go first.


MR. WARREN:  I'm not, Madam Chair.  I should have made it clear at the beginning.  I'm only dealing with the split issue.


MS. NOWINA:  Then maybe it doesn't matter and we will just go in the order that we discussed the names.  Mr. Warren, you're up first.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. WARREN:

MR. WARREN:  Thank you.  Panel, as I just indicated, my questions deal only with the M2 rate split issue.


My first series of questions is to Mr. Feingold.  I take it you're not the Republican Senator from Minnesota; is that right?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Unfortunately not, although I have got good restaurant tables in Madison, Wisconsin until I show up.


MR. WARREN:  The fact that you're not a Republican, sir, may help you.  


I would like -- Mr. Feingold, I'm not sure that you have the text.  Let's begin with the background to your report.  If you could turn up page 1 of your report, which, for the record, is Exhibit H2, tab 1.


In the introductory paragraphs, you cite a portion of the Board's decision with reasons in RP-2003‑0063.  I'm wondering, Mr. Feingold, if you or Mr. Kitchen, beside you, have the full text from which that particular quotation comes?


MR. FEINGOLD:  We're checking.


MR. WARREN:  Thank you very much.  I would refer you to page 147 of the Board's decision with reasons in that case.


Under the heading "Board Findings", I quote the following:

"The Board agrees that rate design principles typically do not include end use categories.  However, the Board is not convinced that the load profile for commercial, industrial customers is so similar to that of residential customers as to be functionally indistinguishable.  It is counterintuitive that a high-volume industrial user will incur the same amount of customer-related costs as a residential customer.  It seems unreasonable that Union cannot differentiate members of this class on the basis of consumption.  The Board, therefore, directs Union to conduct a cost allocation and rate design study directed at separating low volume and high volume consumers currently within the M2 rate class.  In designing the study, Union should consider rate implications at different volume break points and should also consider the appropriate level of monthly fixed charges for each sub-class."


Have I read that correctly?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, you have.


MR. WARREN:  Now, my question, Mr. Feingold -- I have two questions on what I have just read.  The first is that the Board would ‑‑ I invite you to agree or disagree with me ‑‑ that my reading of that is that the Board seems to direct Union to create rate classes which distinguish between residential customers, on the one hand, and commercial industrial customers, on the other.


Would you agree with that reading of it?


MR. FEINGOLD:  If we agree that residential is synonymous with small volume and commercial/industrial are synonymous with high volume, because when I read this passage, it seems to me the operative phrase is where the Board says:

"It is counterintuitive that a high volume industrial user will incur the same amount of customer‑related costs as a residential customer".


To me, when I read that within the broader context of this page, that was posing the question, to me, on:  Is there a material difference in unit cost between those -- I will characterize two ends of the spectrum, so to speak, and, in fact, our work on behalf of Union did show that there was a material difference in unit cost between a high-volume industrial customer and a residential.  But that, in my view, does not in any way say that you must split the M2 class on an end-use basis to be able to recognize that cost difference.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Thank you for that.


Am I right in understanding, though, that with your recommended split of the M2 rate class at the 50,000 cubic metre break point, that in what will become the M1 class, which is below 50,000, there will be industrial/commercial consumers, as well as residential consumers; is that fair?


MR. FEINGOLD:  That's fair.


MR. WARREN:  Now, the second question arising from the text we have just read is in the passage -- sorry, in the sentence:

"In designing the study, Union should consider rate implications at different volume break points and should also ^^^END 25U^^^ consider the appropriate level of monthly fixed charges for each sub class.


Now, your report, and correct me if I'm wrong, considers the rate implications at essentially one volume breakpoint; is that correct?  That's the breakpoint of the 50,000 cubic metres.  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  The report presents the results under a 

50,000 cubic metre breakpoint.  But as I indicated in a response to an interrogatory, we looked at other volumetric breakpoints as well.  

     MR. WARREN:  Just so that we're clear on the record.  Could you direct me -- is the interrogatory you're referring to interrogatory J 21.26?  It's a response to the Schools Energy Coalition. 

     The answer that I am looking at -- 

     MR. FEINGOLD:  I think it is actually Exhibit J21.27.  

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  I'm looking at page 10 of 12.  

     MR. WARREN:  Now, you considered -- you indicate that you did look at the rate implications at different volume breakpoints; is that right?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.  

     MR. WARREN:  Did you actually do a calculation of the rate implications at various breakpoints?  Or did you look at it notionally. 

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Both.  

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now -- so in your view, then, your 

analysis is responsive to the Board's direction that you look at -– sorry, Union should look at rate implications, plural, rather than single one; is that correct? 

     MR. FEINGOLD:  I believe it is responsive, yes.  

     MR. WARREN:  Now, in your report, sir, you got at page 4 -- if you could turn that up -- you have under the heading cost characteristics, in the second bullet, item, I quote:  

“Union's cost of service study shows material differences between the unit customer cost of the residential and commercial industrial subclasses within the M2 rate class.  NCI’s,” that's Navigant Consulting, “assessment of unit customer costs for the residential subclass indicated a cost level of $21.37 per month, our assessment of the unit customer costs for the commercial and industrial subclass indicated a cost level of $67.93 per month.”  

     Now, there, you're using categories of end use.  You're referring to a residential subclass and to a commercial and industrial subclass.  Should we read that, Mr. Feingold, that your assessment of unit customer costs for the small-volume subclass indicated; is that a correct reading of it?  Because you have just indicated, I thought, that you reject the idea of having classes that are based on end use.  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Now, the bullet point that we're referring to on page 4 is before we ever get to the point of assessing what is an appropriate basis to split the existing rate M2.  

     And the reasons that, in this bullet point, we reflected residential and commercial industrial subclasses was because that was the only basis we had for assessing Union's customer-related costs based on the sub categories that they have in their cost of service study.  

     If you were to turn to appendix F of the report, where those two numbers are calculated, that is the sum total of the detail that exists in Union's cost-of-service study within the context of the rate M2 class.  And so while we would have liked to have had unit cost information by volume breakpoint as opposed to by end use, we also thought that it was relevant to look at this information, since we had it available in any case.       

MR. WARREN:  Thank you for that.  Let me just follow on with that analysis.  Perhaps I should start by asking you:  What is the unit cost, unit customer cost?  What is that?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  It is a representation of the 

customer-related costs of serving an average-size customer in the particular category that we're looking at.  And so, for example, that would include costs associated with facilities and expenses that are related more to providing access to the customer for the distribution grid, as opposed to serving capacity or serving volumetric requirements of the customer.       

MR. WARREN:  What is the -- 

     MR. FEINGOLD:  It would be a meter or a service. 

     MR. WARREN:  What is the relationship between the unit 

customer cost and the fixed monthly charge, which you recommended of $14.  What is the relationship between those two numbers?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  The relationship is that the $14 rate that we reflected as an initial cut at the rate design for rate M1, should be reflective of the customer-related costs of serving customers in that class.  

     MR. WARREN:  As a segue from that, is the 

calculation of what you call the unit customer cost, is that relevant in determining whether or to what extent there are cross-subsidies within a rate class?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  I believe it is relevant, yes.  

     MR. WARREN:  And would it be the case that in an 

ideally-designed, perfectly designed rate system, that your 

monthly customer charge would be roughly what your unit cost level is?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  If we were designing rates solely based on cost, then I would agree with you that from a principled 

perspective, you are trying to recover customer-related costs in the component of the rate that is charged to customers on an equivalent basis.  

     MR. WARREN:  Now, do I understand your report correctly that one of your objectives was to recommend a rate design -- or represent a structure for what was the M2 rate class that would, to the extent possible, eliminate cross-subsidies?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  That was one of the objectives, among others.  

     MR. WARREN:  And to the extent, Mr. Feingold -- sorry.  Let me take this in baby steps.  

     I take it from what you answered -- the question you 

answered a moment ago, that you do not have a way of calculating what the unit costs are, based on volume?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  No.  The only basis we had for calculating the unit costs by volume --and by volume, I mean for the two new classes that we recommended -- was the way we did it in appendix H of the report, which was to essentially take the unit cost information from Union's current cost study and reflect that in each of the two new classes, based on the number of residential, the number of commercial, and the number of industrial customers that were mapped into each of those two new rate classes.  

     MR. WARREN:  In the terms of an ignorant layman like me, is it a best guess at the unit cost-based on volume?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  I would rather call it a reasoned judgment.  

     MR. WARREN:  Thank you for that flattering observation.  I get very few of those.  

     If it is a reasoned judgment, sir, are you satisfied that the unit costs for the commercial industrial customer, consuming at let's say 49,000 metres cubed, is roughly equivalent to an average residential consumer who is taking, I take it, roughly 3,000 metres cubed a year?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  It is very difficult to look at any one 

individual customer within a rate class and be able to say there is a good match between that customer's usage or consumption characteristics or the nature of the customer's requirements for delivery service and the underlying costs associated with it.  

     Out of necessity, we develop rate classes to avoid having individual rates for every customer.  And in my judgment, the threshold question, or the threshold issue that we addressed through this exercise was, first, to be able to develop rate classes that were an enhancement to Union's current rate M2 class.  Cost was one consideration.  Cross-subsidies, as we talked about, was embodied in that.


But, quite frankly, rate design is an evolving process, whether it's splitting classes or developing monthly charges or rate block charges for an existing rate.  And over time, I fully expect that if the Board accepts this proposal, that there will be a continued process of reviewing the structure of the rates relative to the underlying costs.


MR. WARREN:  Let me try to get to the nub of it, sir.  I go back to the choice of words in the Board's decision which I quoted, and I will personalize it by saying that it seems counterintuitive to me that the unit customer cost for a typical residential consumer at roughly 3,000 metres cubed would be the same as a customer who is in a commercial/industrial business consuming something like 15 times that volume at 45- or 46,000 metres cubed.


I wonder what comfort, I guess as a segue to it -- I'm sorry, I'm asking too many questions.  I wonder what comfort the Board can take from the data in your report that that intuition is wrong.


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, I think the Board can take comfort in the fact that currently rate M2 has one monthly customer charge.  And in what we recommended in the report, we now have developed two new groups of customers, as I said earlier, more homogenous in nature, with two different monthly customer charges.  So I think we are moving towards a better reflection of costs and rates.


Are we moving all the way?  No.  In fact, if we wanted to move all the way, the $14, as you pointed out earlier, should probably be closer to $21.  That would go further to addressing intra-class cross-subsidy issues.  But there are other countervailing factors that come into play.  So we cannot always move as far as we would like to cost.


 MR. WARREN:  Let me jump ahead a little bit, Mr. Feingold, and ask you this question, and your counsel has ‑‑ or Union's counsel in‑chief has directed you to this, and I'm going to go back to it, and that is -- maybe I will ask it in the negative.


What would be wrong, sir, with a customer class that was broken out along the lines that Mr. Chernick suggested, which is you take the break point at the upper limit of a residential consumer's consumption - I think he says 8,000 metres cubed - so you would then have, if you wish, two break points, one at 8,000, one at 50,000, and that's it?


What would be the mischief, if you wish, in doing that?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, I think the mischief would be that if you were to look at the composition of the commercial customers served by Union, you would find, under that scenario, that almost half of the commercial customers served by Union can be served with facilities that are appropriate to be served by a residential customer.


So as a result, you would set up a situation where although the underlying unit costs were similar, a residential customer, by virtue of the fact that they have an "R" on them, versus a commercial customer with a "C, would pay two different rates, because it would be end-use based at that point.


MR. WARREN:  So the mischief, I take it, is that you would have two people who would otherwise have homogenous characteristics in two different rate classes.  Is that ...


MR. FEINGOLD:  Two different rate classes with presumably two different rates that are being charged to them.


MR. WARREN:  And you cannot -- I take it from your answer you cannot determine homogeneity solely on the basis of volume consumed.  There are other characteristics; is that fair?


MR. FEINGOLD:  That's fair.


MR. WARREN:  But I thought, and I may well have misunderstood you, that overall your recommendation of the one break point of 50,000 was predicated on the notion that the surest measure of homogeneity is volumes consumed.  Did I misunderstand that?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, it's volumes consumed, but I think if you were to look at some of the underlying analyses in the report, load factor was also something that was reviewed, as well as the monthly load shapes of the various sub-groups; that is, residential, commercial and industrial.


And from the charts in the report, charts 1, 2, 3 and 4, in particular, you can see that there is a great degree of commonality in the load shapes of those sub-groups.


MR. WARREN:  You have recommended, in your report, that the monthly fixed charge be $14, and that's, as we've discussed, about $7.50 less than what you identified as the residential unit customer cost.  How did you arrive at $14?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, first, I would like to, if I could, just clarify something for the record.


While in the Navigant report we did provide rates for the new rate class M1 and the new class M2, they should be viewed as first cut or illustrative rates.  And as the report discusses, when it talks about the implications for Union Gas, we fully expected that the rates that were provided in the report to illustrate rate structure would not be the rates that Union would file in a formal rate proceeding before the Ontario Energy Board.


MR. WARREN:  But I have to presume, Mr. Feingold, that your $14 was based on some rational calculation of what you thought was the appropriate number; correct?


MR. FEINGOLD:  The $14 ‑‑


MR. WARREN:  The fact that Union might change it is one thing, but the integrity, if I can put it that way, of your number is a different matter.  You would agree with that; is that right?


MR. FEINGOLD:  The integrity is ‑‑


MR. WARREN:  Of your number, $14.  You just didn't pull it from the air; right?


MR. FEINGOLD:  No.  It was guided by the cost study results.  Certainly it was also guided by where Union's rates are currently.


MR. WARREN:  You report is dated December 2005.  What rates information were you relying on?  Was it...

     MR. FEINGOLD:  I believe it was the rate information coming out of the ‑‑ I think it was the current rates at the time.


MR. KITCHEN:  Mr. Feingold's analysis used the cost study and rates that came out of the RP-2003‑0063 case.  So it would have been based on the 2004 rates that were subsequently adjusted for an increase in the monthly customer charge to $14.


MR. WARREN:  I would like to take you, then, Mr. Navigant ‑‑ sorry, Mr. Feingold.  I apologize for that.  I'm not sure whether you should be flattered by that or not.


MR. FEINGOLD:  I will reserve judgment.


[Laughter]


MR. WARREN:  I would like to drill down a little further through some of Mr. Chernick's critiques, just to get your response so that I can understand it.


If you could turn to page 16 of what I will call the -- I'm going to characterize it as the Chernick critique, because he doesn't have very much positive to say about you, does he?  Page 16 of that report.


Mr. Chernick makes the following observation, beginning at line 2:   

"Apart from the error in the analyses themselves, Navigant's analyses cannot demonstrate that the split it proposes is the best response to the Board's order because Navigant did not even consider the full range of approaches to reforming the existing M2 rate structure and rejected alternatives without adequate support."


What is your response?  I mean, can you agree that seems a fairly searching critique of your work?  What is your response to it?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I guess my general response is that when we started this process and started to undertake the study, as I said earlier, we started with a clean slate, which essentially, from a strict rate-making perspective, gives me options at two ends of a spectrum, the first being I could have one rate for each customer that Union serves.  Administratively I'm not sure I want to do that.  And at the other end of the spectrum, I could have rate M2 as it exists currently and add additional rate blocks to be able to attempt to better reflect a cost in the rate structure.


Somewhere in between is the right answer, and I would say that the word "right" is in quotations by virtue of the fact that just like any other aspect of rate design, it's an art more than a science.


And what we were trying to achieve was a reasonable

achievement of the objectives that were set out by the Board, the objectives that I believe are reasonable within the context of ratemaking principles more generally.  And while the report does not talk about every last option that was considered, I think the report also addresses and so does the interrogatory responses, why we rejected certain options that we felt were not best suited to meet the objectives that were set out at the outset.  

     MR. WARREN:  Now, in the sentence following the one I just quoted to you this is Exhibit K21, page 16, beginning at line 6.  

     Mr. Chernick says:  

“Of the options Navigant did consider, including the range of possible breakpoints, Navigant's method did not necessarily pick out the best option.”  

     Now, just keeping in mind that critique.  If you could turn to interrogatory response J21.26.  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  I have it.  

     MR. WARREN:  And there were a number of questions asked within that.  But the one I would like to take a look at is the one that's letter G.  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Did you say G?  

     MR. WARREN:  G as in George.  

“Was splitting the existing M2 rate classes into more than two rate classes contemplated, and if not, why not?”

     If you turn over to page 4 of the response, we have your answer.       

MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, I see it. 

MR. WARREN:  It said:

“Navigant did not consider its option in its 
review of Union's M2 rate class”.  

I thought your answer to me earlier was you did consider the option of more than one rate class? 

     MR. FEINGOLD:  When I said I did not consider the option, it means it didn't rise to the level of being presented in the report as a viable alternative.  As I said earlier, we certainly looked at it at the outset and, for the reasons that I articulate later in this response, we chose to not go any further with that option.  

     MR. WARREN:  Now, going down towards the very bottom of the answer, G, you have the following in the second last sentence:  

“Navigant noted in its report, there is a balance that must be struck between the number of rate classes and the precise configuration of the related rate structures.” 

     Can you tell me what that sentence means? 

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.  It is essentially the concept that I have now discussed a few times, that the balance is either you have one rate class with many, many rate blocks to be able to satisfy the diversity of customers in the class; or you can have one rate class for each customer where you can target directly the rate level that is appropriate for that particular customer.  

     MR. WARREN:  To what -- 

     MR. FEINGOLD:  It's a balance that has to be struck between those two ends of the spectrum. 

     MR. WARREN:  To what extent, in striking that balance in this report and your recommendations, were you influenced by the administrative details of having more than one breakpoint?  Or having several rate classes, to put it another way. 

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Did you say the administrative?  

     MR. WARREN:  Simply the difficulties in cost Union might have in setting up the system.  Was that a factor, in your analysis?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, the administrative burden of rate

design is always a consideration.  And the more rate classes you have, the more opportunity there is for customers that may switch, it may require additional information from a cost-of-service study perspective, that might be burdensome.  Those are the kinds of things that certainly we need to be looked at.       

It could require additional programming of the utility's customer information system and so forth.  

     MR. WARREN:  Were those considerations a factor in your rejecting multiple rate subclasses?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  I would say they were a consideration.  They weren't a driving factor.  

     MR. WARREN:  I have just a couple of more of Mr. Chernick's objections that I would like to put to you.  The next one appears at page 28.  This is in the context of the transition between the two new rate classes.  

     The question which is posed on the preceding page is:   

“Would the pricing of the file block of the M1 tariff include the smooth transition between the M1 and M2 tariffs?” 

The answer which Mr. Chernick gives is:  “No, the transition between the rates is not at all smooth.”     

     Then if you turn over to the following page, 29.  He argues in the text at the bottom of the page that:  

“The way you were proposing to set up the rate structures would provide a number of negative incentives, if you wish, for people.”  

     What is your re sons to that critique?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, my response first off I was very 

surprised that this was even raised, and I will tell you why.  

     I would like to also refer you to page 4 of Mr. Chernick's evidence, lines 14 through 17 where he recommends that Union should be directed to design the rates, wherever they are split, to ensure a smooth transition from the lower volume rate to the higher volume rate so that customers will prefer to be on the rate that is designed for them.       

When I read that sentence, there is no grounding in sound rate-design principles that support that statement.  

     If you take that statement to the extreme, it's essentially saying that Mr. Chernick would want all customers to receive a rate decrease because they would be satisfied by that kind of a rate structure.  And in any kind of rate redesign, whether it is new rate classes, new rate structure, there are winners and there are losers.  And it is not that you're trying to anticipate ahead of time or trying to prejudge who the winners and losers might 

be, but it is a zero sum game.  

     The utility has received an approval from the regulator on the revenues that should be recovered from customers.  To the extent that you change rates, some customers will benefit from that change, and some customers will be disadvantaged by that change.  

     In fact it is possible that those that were disadvantaged by that change may have been receiving an unwarranted benefit prior to that.  Just that the rate design had not reflected the more current situation.  

     So I was very surprised by his comment.  And it almost 

suggests that there is a self selection process that Mr. Chernick is looking for, as opposed to Union's process and approach which was to establish two new rate classes that had a basis, as I discuss in my report, and having the customers served off of those classes as opposed to choosing which class is best for them.  

     MR. WARREN:  Can I ask you to turn up the preceding 

interrogatory response, which is J21.25.  

     Now, there is a table which appears on page 2 of 3, which as I understand the table, shows the impacts of the 

-- of your proposal, and Union's adoption of it, on various customers at different breakpoints within the 2000.  

     My question is really just a segue from your winners and losers observation.  

     It would appear -- I want to just confirm that I am reading this correctly.  It would appear at the very low end of the consumption level, that there will be an increase 1.4 percent increase for consumers at the very lowest end of the consumption pattern, 1500 metres cubed.  Have I read it correctly?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.  

     MR. WARREN:  Then you get, when you get above 3500 metres cubed, you get, by and large decreases, until you get to -- up to the 30,000, 40,000 and 50,000 breakpoint where the increases are in relation to the others, quite substantial.  They're not big numbers, but they're substantial in relation to 

the others.  Is that fair?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  They're larger.  

     MR. WARREN:  Now, two things.  Can you tell me -- perhaps Mr. Kitchen, you're the one that can tell me -- whom would we find within those rate classes of 30,000, 40,000, 50,000?  Are they industrial, consumer, or are they --- what sort of customers are in that group?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  There is two points I would like to make.  First, about the increases at the upper end.      Then I will get to the specific question.  

As part of redesigning or as part of splitting the M2 rate class, we also established new storage rates for the M1 and M2 rate class to reflect the different load factor.  These impacts include the storage change as well - so the total impact.  

     For M1 the storage rate went up.  So as you get into the higher volume, you get more of an impact.  So that's what is driving the impact.  

     In terms of the customers -- 

     MR. WARREN:  I just want to -- I apologize for

interrupting.  Just stay with that for a minute. 


When we look at these numbers in column E at the bottom end of it, could you break out -- is it possible to break out, at least in a rough way, how much of the impact ‑‑ how much of this increase would be due to difference -- change in storage and how much is due to this split between M1 and M2?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  I would have to take that as an undertaking, but, yes, I can do it.


MR. WARREN:  Can that be done quickly?  We're going to argue the case on Tuesday.


MR. KITCHEN:  I'm sure I could do it by tomorrow morning, which I'm sure I will be back for that.


[Laughter]


MS. NOWINA:  Looks like it.


MR. SMITH:  It looks like he's testified on rate design before.


MR. SCHUCH:  Madam Chair that would be undertaking U2.4. 


UNDERTAKING NO. U2.4:  PERCENTAGE INCREASE DUE TO 
CHANGE IN STORAGE AND DUE TO SPLIT BETWEEN M1 AND M2 
RATES WITH RESPECT TO COLUMN E 

MR. WARREN:  We are talking about bill impacts; is that right?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Sorry, I apologize.  I interrupted you.  You were going to the second part of my question, which was whom ‑‑ what sort of customers would we find in this -- in these three rate breaks?


MR. KITCHEN:  They would be largely commercial/industrial customers. 


MR. WARREN:  Where would we find the institutional customers?


MR. KITCHEN:  Their loads vary.  They will be in both M2 and M1.


MR. WARREN:  Now, just staying with this chart, I want to see what, if any, implications I can draw from this.


Mr. Kitchen or Mr. Feingold, can we look at column E and say that, as the numbers break out, that you're evening out, if you wish, the cross-subsidies, so that the people whose bill impacts are going down, they are paying less by way of subsidy than they had in the past?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I guess the question is the starting point.  If we're saying the starting point is the current rate M2, all other things being equal ‑‑ well, I would focus at the smaller customers, just to maybe answer this more directly.


The smaller customers on this page are seeing an increase, albeit a small one, primarily because of the increase in the monthly customer charge.


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. FEINGOLD:  And to the extent that the monthly customer charge is moving towards the indicated monthly customer cost, you're in essence removing an existing intra‑class cross-subsidy.


MR. WARREN:  All right.  My final point, sir, on the Chernick report is on page 30 of that report.  Beginning at line 8, Mr. Chernick makes the following observation:

"To the extent that rate M2 can be redesigned to segregate customers into more homogenous groups by cost characteristics, the bill to each group of customers can more closely reflect the costs incurred to serve those customers."


I take it that that is an observation with which you would agree?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, I would.


MR. WARREN:  And would it also follow that you believe that what you have recommended follows from that principle?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, I do.


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Kitchen, a few questions for you.  If you could turn up your pre-filed evidence, please?  These are largely clarification questions on that evidence.


MS. NOWINA:  Do you have a reference number, Mr. Warren?


MR. WARREN:  I do, Madam Chair.  Exhibit H1, tab 1, page 9 is where I would like to begin.


MR. KITCHEN:  I have it.


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Kitchen, looking at table 2, how were the costs allocated between the two classes?  Were they done on the basis of an established cost‑allocation methodology or the application of judgment about ‑‑


MR. KITCHEN:  Sorry, I didn't hear the last part.


MR. WARREN:  Were they done on the basis of an established cost‑allocation methodology or the application of your judgment, or some combination of the two?


MR. KITCHEN:  They were done on the basis of established cost‑allocation methodology.


MR. WARREN:  To what extent, if at all, would the numbers we see on table 2 be affected by the settlement agreement which the Board has approved?


MR. KITCHEN:  In the package that was filed I believe at the start of the hearing, M ‑‑


MR. SMITH:  Exhibit M1.6.


MR. KITCHEN:  At the back of that document are the updated tables from my pre-filed.


MR. WARREN:  Thanks for that.  You caught me off guard.  I haven't read it yet, Mr. Kitchen, but I will now read it.  The same answer would be true of table 3?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, it would.


MR. WARREN:  Same, by way of general observation.  You file 1,000 pages of pre-filed evidence, interrogatory responses, and you get caught with the one page you haven't read. 


MR. KITCHEN:  I'm just lucky that way, I guess.


MR. WARREN:  Thanks for that, Mr. Kitchen.  I'm humiliated in public.  The same observation about my dereliction of my responsibilities would be true of table 3, is that right, that you have a new table that would reflect the ‑‑


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  We have updated all of the tables that are included in the section on the rate class split, as well as those associated with the increase in the customer charge.


MR. WARREN:  Now, Mr. Kitchen, this is a question I guess for you and/or for Mr. Feingold.  Mr. Feingold, you, in your report, make a point of saying that you have compared the rate structures that Union has with that of a number of other utilities in North America.


Did you include in your comparison the rate structures of Enbridge Gas Distribution?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I believe Enbridge was in there.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  The reason for my question is that Enbridge has two categories of rates.  One is their Rate 1 for residential service, and a second is Rate 6 for general service.


Would you be familiar with those, Mr. Kitchen?


MR. KITCHEN:  I'm not familiar with the specific numbers, but I am familiar with the rates, yes; rate classes.


MR. WARREN:  Enbridge, in its Rate 1, is a rate only for residential consumers.


My question is, why would ‑‑ what's Union's reason for not having an analogous rate which is confined just to residential consumers?


MR. KITCHEN:  Well, I think it goes back actually a bit in history.  At one time, Union actually had a residential rate class, and through Board direction and Board decisions we collapsed that into a single general service rate.


We actually came back at some point later and proposed to split it out ‑‑ split out the residential rate, and the Board actually found that that was not an appropriate rate design and we've stuck with the general service rate all along.


It's been one of our principles not to design rates on the basis of end use.  We've said that in a number of forums.


I don't know the history of the Enbridge rate, but I know that our experience with this Board has been to not design rates based on end use.


MR. WARREN:  My only other question with respect to the Enbridge analogy is that their fixed ‑‑ their monthly customer charge is some $11.25.  You're proposing $16.  Is there a reason for the difference, Mr. Kitchen?


MR. KITCHEN:  I can't speak for why Enbridge isn't going higher.  I don't know the level of their customer-related costs.


I know that our proposal to increase the customer charge is supported by the cost study.  It's there to reduce the inter-class subsidy, and it still leaves a significant portion of customer‑related costs recovered volumetrically.


MR. WARREN:  Which leads, I guess, Mr. Kitchen, inevitably to the question:  You're proposing $16 would be the new fixed ‑‑ the monthly customer charge; is that right?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's right.


MR. WARREN:  In light of the analysis which Mr. Feingold reflects in his report, which is that the unit customer cost is really something like $21 and change, I'm wondering, I guess, two questions:  Why $16, when $14 was what Navigant recommended; and at $16, why not higher?


MR. KITCHEN:  In terms of why $16 and not $14 -- when Navigant's report includes $14, we were really working independently of Navigant in terms of where we wanted to set the monthly customer charge.


The answer as to: Why not higher?, I think that there is merit to moving towards customer ‑‑ the recovery of customer-related costs through the monthly customer charge.  In other words, increasing it further.
     I don't think, at this point, we had the desire or willingness to go any further.  We felt the $2 was a sufficient increase.  We have done $2 increases in the past, and those were not -- I don't want to say they were well received by customers, but it said weren’t received by customers, we didn't really get any feedback on whether or not customers liked it or not.  I think we're comfortable going at small increments.  We don't want to make a 

big jump, although I am not saying we wouldn't move further at some point in the future.  

     MR. WARREN:  Mr. Feingold, there is one question that I forgot to ask you.  One of the factors that was cited in your report in recommending a split at 50,000 metres cubed is that it corresponds to the rate structure which Union has in its northern district.  Do you recall that?

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, I do. 

     MR. WARREN:  To what extent was that a factor in your recommending the 50,000 split. 

     MR. FEINGOLD:  It wasn't a major factor.  It was a 

consideration within the broader context of looking at the load characteristics and the cost characteristics, which I think were the primary drivers in our assessment.  

     MR. WARREN:  My final series of questions, briefly, are -- to Mr. Kitchen, are these.  

     Mr. Chernick -- if you look at his report Exhibit K 21, and turn up page 32 -- sorry 31 -- is to put it in my words and not his, he's recommending that the Board instruct Union to go back and do a further and better study I guess to Cooper-up the problems he sees in the Navigant report.     

     And I want to ask you this question and in fairness, I will ask it to Mr. Chernick when he comes here.  This is, I guess, a segue from a question which your counsel asked you.  

     Was there any information that was available to Navigant that was not made available to Mr. Chernick?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  No, there was not.  

     MR. WARREN:  From your perspective – again, I will in 

fairness ask him -- is there any reason he couldn't have done the very further and better study that he recommends that you have Navigant do?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  It's difficult for me to comment on Mr. 

Chernick and what he could do.  He had the data, but -- 

     MR. WARREN:  He had the data?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  

     MR. WARREN:  All right.  Now, the last question is a 

practical one.  If the Board were to accept Mr. Chernick's 

recommendation, direct you to go back and do a further and better study, when, as a practical matter, would that study come back before the Board, if we move into a PBR regime beginning of 2007?  In other words, when would be the first opportunity the Board would have to consider the results of a further and better study?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Well, I guess the first thing I would like to say is I'm not sure we would come back with a further and better study because we have done the work.  I'm not sure there is anything else that we can do that would change the result, at least from our point of view.  

     In terms of when we would come back with such a -- with such a study, if directed by the Board, that's difficult for me to answer but would I suggest that it really is within the hands of the Board to tell us when that would be appropriate.  

     MR. WARREN:  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  I think we will take a very brief break this afternoon, so we will break now until five minutes past three.  

     --- Recess taken at 2:50 p.m.                     


‑‑‑ Upon resuming at 3:10 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Mr. Thompson.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON:

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  For those that don't know me, I represent the Industrial Gas Users Association.  My client's concern here is with respect to the Issue 6.1, which asks the question:  Is the whole schedule of rates proposed in H3 appropriate?


Our concerns are primarily with respect to the rates for the large volume users and substantially informational in nature, so I think most of these questions will be for you, Mr. Kitchen.  In fact, they will all be for you.


The specific concern that we have is with respect to the tilt of some of these rates.  When I say "tilt", it's the demand charge increase in the rates, compared to the overall increase to the rate class as a whole.


So if we might, then, getting the evidence that we will need to follow this, I think you will need Exhibit M1.6, which was filed yesterday, as I understand it.  Then you will need its predecessor, which would be Exhibit H3, tab 1, schedule 1.  If you could just get those at hand and I can highlight the concerns.


In the course of this, I will get Ms. DeMarco's questions out on the record, but I don't want to interrupt the flow to do that.


So if you wouldn't mind starting with the "as filed" piece.  I'm looking at H3, tab 1, schedule 1, as filed.  You will see there, for example, at line 3, Rate 20, the increase for the class was shown at 13.4 percent.  


Have I read that correctly, Mr. Kitchen?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, I have it.


MR. THOMPSON:  Then for Rate 100 -- these are two rates in the northern operations area concern to my clients.  For Rate 100 the increase for the class was shown at 12.5 percent.


MR. KITCHEN:  12.6, I think.


MR. THOMPSON:  12.6, excuse me.  Dropping down to the southern operations area, for M7, it is shown as -- for the class as a whole as 13.9 percent; is that correct?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Then for T1, it is shown for the class as a whole at 13 percent.


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So just to get those numbers aligned with the demand charge increase to each of those classes, I think I can do that by flipping over to ‑‑ get these pages closer to my failing eyes -- into H3, tab 1, schedule 2.


At page 3 of 10, we see the ‑‑ in line 2 -- I'm just doing this at a high level.  At line 2, column C, the current approved rates charged are 18.99 cents per cubic metre, and the proposed charge, in column H, of 22.09 cents per cubic metre, which I make ‑ I hope you will take this subject to check ‑ to be an increase of about 16 percent in the demand charge.  Would you take that, subject to check?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  I can do this for each of those rates that I mentioned earlier.  For example, Rate 100, if you go to H3, tab 1, schedule 2, page 5, at line 2, you can get in column C the existing demand charge at 11.23 cents per cubic metre, and the proposed in that case was 12.9688 cents per cubic metre, which I make, subject to check, to be about a 5 percent increase in the demand charge.  Would you take that subject to check?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Over then on page 7, we see the M7.  I'm looking at M7, firm contracts at line 1, where the existing rate, 24.8644 cents per cubic metre, and initially going to 27.40 cents per cubic metre, which, subject to check, was a demand charge increase of about 11.1 percent; is that fair?


MR. KITCHEN:  I will take that subject to check.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Then, finally, with respect to T1, which is on page 8 of schedule 2 of H3, tab 1 at line 9, we see the existing demand charge at 16.9379 cents per cubic metre, going to 21.1844 cents per cubic metre, which I make, subject to check, to be about a 25 percent increase in the demand charge.


Would you take those numbers subject to check, Mr. Kitchen?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  If we then just jump forward to the current situation, which, as I understand it, is reflected in Exhibit M1.6.


MR. KITCHEN:  Those schedules reflect the ADR agreement.


MR. THOMPSON:  Perhaps the quickest way to do this, so that if you look, for example, at Rate 20, which is on page 1 of this document, at line 3 in column I, we're seeing the class rate increase now at 1.7 percent rather than the 13.4 percent originally proposed; correct?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  That's the result of the settlement ‑‑ or is that the result of the settlement of the revenue deficiency claim at a reduced amount?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Similarly, for Rates 100, M7 and T1, the rate increase for the class now is, for Rate 100, 1.8 percent at line 6, column I, versus the 12.6 originally proposed?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And for M7, it's 1.2 percent instead of the 13.9 percent originally proposed, and for T1 it's 1.9 percent versus the 13 percent originally proposed?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  If we go to the pages in this exhibit comparable to the pages that I discussed in the exhibit originally filed, which would be Exhibit H3, tab 1, schedule 2, page 3, we now see the increase in the demand charge for Rate 20 going from -- this is at line 2, going from 18.9962 cents to 19.5327 cents, which I make to be about a 2.8 percent increase.


Would you take that, subject to check?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So just stopping there, for Rate 20 we have a 2.8 percent increase in the demand charge versus a 1.7 percent increase in the rate for the class as a whole.


And if you would take, subject to check, that for rate 100 - I won't drag you through all of the math - what we have there is a rate increase for the class as a whole of 1.8 percent, which we saw on the first page.  

     If you go over to schedule 2, page 5, you can derive the demand charge increase at 1.2 percent.  So for rate 100, the demand charge increase is lower than the overall increase to the rate class as a whole.  For rate M7F, which you can find on page 3, tab 1, schedule 2 page 7, at line 1, if you compare column H to column C, I get - subject to check - a demand charge increase of 1.1 percent, which compares to the rate increase for the class as a whole of 

about 1.2 percent.  

Then for T1, which you will find on page 8 of 10 - and this is the one, I think, of primary concern to my client - at line 9 we're now going from, in column C, 16.9379 cents to 17.7324 cents, which, if you would take subject to check, is an increase of about 4.6 percent in the demand charge. 

     MR. KITCHEN:  I will take that subject to check, yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  For the class as a whole, the increase is 1.9 percent, as you can see on this particular page at line 16 over in the last column.  

     My question is, can you help us understand why the tilt of these rates is changing and, in particular, why it's changing quite significantly in T1.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  I will do my best, Mr. Thompson.  There was a lot of numbers there.  It may be helpful to start out with just a description of how we approach the rate design in general.       

When we design rates - and this is true in both the 

pre-filed and in the ADR - we consider several things.  Probably the three most dominant are, are we consider the allocated costs; we consider the relativity between firm rates; and we also consider the ultimate impact on the revenue cost ratio.  

     In doing all of those things, we try to come up with a set of rates that we feel is defendable, makes the most sense and provides customers with a set of rates that as they increase their volume or change the demands and as they move, they will move into appropriate rate classes and pay appropriate rates.  

     In terms of the tilt -- I'm not sure there is anything 

intentional in the tilt.  If you look actually at the detailed sheets - and this is true in both pre-filed and the ADR documents - there's also a significant cost -- if you look at the revenue requirement, we're significantly under-recovering cost summary classes.  That is related to the fact that the cost study is not a perfect tool, that's why we have to consider other things.  The cost study, for instance, will contain - because it is based on a forecast - customers that are moving around from rate class to rate class, and as a result there will be shifting of costs between the rate classes that we try to correct in rate design, such that we don't have anomalous results.  An example of that is rate 20.  

     If you notice the rate – the revenue cost ratio is approximately 0.6.  The reason for that is that we have a large cogen forecast to come on late in 2007, which is attracting costs to the rate class, but there is no real billing units there on which to design the rates.  So we let the revenue cost ratio take the swing and really design based on the rate continuum.  

     That's an example of what we're doing for rate 20.  

     For rate M7, there's been a significant change in the load factor.  The M7 load factor, I believe in ‘04 was around 60 or 70 percent, it has dropped to the 40 percent range.  That will drive increases in the demand charges.  

     In T1 --      

MR. THOMPSON:  If I could interrupt you there.  Except in M7, the demand charge increase is actually, in percentage terms, less than the overall increase to the class.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Well, all I'm talking about is why they 

change.  I wasn't trying to address the relative changes between rates.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Between different rate classes and different demand charges.  In the T1 rate class, in particular, in the pre-filed, we had forecast Greenfield Energy Centre through the ADR, capital end units had been removed.  So that will drive changes between the two.  But you still have increases in allocated costs.  

     If you look down the column, column G -- sorry, column E, -- hang on a sec.  Let me make sure I have my eyes straight here, if you look down column F, sorry. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  On M1.6, page 1. 

     MR. KITCHEN:  On M1.6.  Let's go back to tab 1, schedule 2, page 1. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  If you flip to page 3 where rate 20 is 

-- sorry.  You can see that there is actually a deficiency, in terms of the recovery, of approximately $6 million. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Where do I see that?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  If you look at column F. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  You can see that there is a 5.195 million in brackets, indicating a deficiency.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  I must be -- I'm on H3, tab 1, schedule 2, page 3 of 10. 

     MR. KITCHEN:  Right.  Line 2 and 3.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, lines 2 and 3, sorry.  Yes.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  You can see that there's -- we've actually under-recovered from that rate class, even though we're increasing demand charge by three percent, we're under-recovering from the class by $5.1 million, from that block.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well the proposed revenue is designed to address that deficiency, isn't it, in the next column?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  That's right.  The proposed -- no.  The 

proposed revenue, compare column G to column E, column E contains the costs allocated in the cost study.  

     We allocated approximately -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  9.6 million.  We're recovering 4.6.  So 

although there are some increases in demand charges, there's also significant credits going back. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  As I mentioned, my primary concern was T1.  I'm trying to get the big picture, but why don't we take a look at T1, where the phenomenon is quite pronounced; where in the original filing the increase for T1 was in the 13 percent range, and the demand charge increase about 25 percent which is sort of a two-to-one ratio.       

Now we're at 4.6 percent to 1.9, so it is even more 

pronounced.  Can you help me understand how that happens in your rate -- cost allocation/rate design process.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  I think first of all I would take you to 

column E on page 8.  


If you look down at lines 9 and 10, we're actually allocating costs of approximately $22 million, and even ‑‑ and with a 4-1/2 percent increase, we're only recovering approximately $17 million.


MR. THOMPSON:  I'm in lines 9 and 10 under ‑‑ oh, sorry.  I'm in the wrong ...


MR. KITCHEN:  H3, tab 1, schedule 2, lines 9 and 10.


MR. THOMPSON:  Recovering 11.8 of 13.8, is what you're saying?


MR. KITCHEN:  Right, 11.8 of 13.8 on line 9, and then 15.9 of 18.4.  I think I might have misspoken the math there and said 20, 22, but it should be 32.


It goes back to those factors that I talked about earlier, that it's not ‑‑ when we allocate costs, we allocate them to rate classes and we allocate them, in here, based on the demand to particular parts of the rate, based on the types of costs that are being incurred.


We have to balance off the rate increase for the class and we have to balance off the rate continuity issues.  It's not a straight-up mathematical explanation that I can give you, and it's not something that is done by design to say that the T1 rates should increase by 4.5 percent; you can increase demand charges by 4.5 percent relative to the other rate classes.  That's not the process we go through.


We are trying to use the cost study to recognize rate continuity and also look at the overall increases for the class and the revenue costs for each.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right, thank you.  That is helpful.  Am I correct that there weren't any material changes in the manner in which you allocate costs to explain a shift of costs from commodity or customer into demand?  In other words, the methods remain more or less the same from the last case?


MR. KITCHEN:  There were some cost allocation changes that were included in the evidence, but those wouldn't account for shifting.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  They weren't ‑‑ they wouldn't explain this?


MR. KITCHEN:  No.


MR. THOMPSON:  This is more judgment than mechanics, is what I hear you telling me; is that right?


MR. KITCHEN:  There is some judgment involved, yes, but I'm just saying we have an eye to all of it.


MR. THOMPSON:  What do I say to my T1 members when I report the increase of the class to 1.9 percent, but, unfortunately, your demand charge is going up 4.6 percent?  Call Kitchen?


MR. KITCHEN:  Well, I won't give you my number but ‑‑


[Laughter]


MR. KITCHEN:  You know, a customer's total bill is what they base, I think ‑‑ maybe I'm wrong on this, but I think a customer's total bill is what is important.  The total bill is not increasing by 4.5 percent.  The total bill is increasing by something less.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But they'll see demand charge as a risk reduction measure by Union.  It will change -- for lower load factor customers, it will change their unit rate, and, for higher, it will be to their advantage, I suppose.


But was this a conscious risk reduction measure that the company introduced?


MR. KITCHEN:  No, it was not.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Okay.  Well, I will do my best, but I'm going to get your number just in case.


MR. KITCHEN:  I think you've probably seen me at enough of these things that you would likely have my e‑mail.


MR. THOMPSON:  Just to follow up, if we might, on some of these impacts, and here I'm addressing really something that we asked, as well as Ms. DeMarco asked.


You filed updated evidence here with respect to these rate impacts, but, to my knowledge, the interrogatory responses have not been updated; is that correct?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  The first one that I wanted you to take a look at, and hopefully you will have a copy there because I took the one out of the Union binder I have here.


[Laughter]


MR. SMITH:  Thanks for the heads‑up.


MR. THOMPSON:  J13.33.  This is an IGUA interrogatory.  It asked for impacts on small, medium and large customers in the rate classes that serve my members or IGUA's members.


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, I do have it.


MR. THOMPSON:  Just a general question, if you can help me with this.


You will see, for rate ‑‑ that rate T1 class, which is on page 3 of 3, in this interrogatory response, this is a class for which, as originally filed, the rate increase for the class as a whole was 13 percent.  So here we have the small -- impact on the small customers.  I think it is 15.2 percent.  The impact on the medium‑size customer is 17.5 percent, and, on the large, it is 15.9.  Every one of them is over the 13 percent.


Can you explain that to me?


MR. KITCHEN:  I think that when we formulated the answer, these aren't actual customers within the T1 rate class.  We picked a customer just past the boundary point - a customer that we would consider average and a customer that was large - and essentially created the parameters for that customer.


MR. THOMPSON:  Even so, how could they all be over the class average?  That takes some doing.


MR. KITCHEN:  The impacts are greater because of the assumptions around storage.  As I say, they're illustrative and they're not intended to be ‑‑ they're not real customers.  To real customers, the impacts will be less than this, actually.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, but why?  What's the line item here that's so fictional it's not real?  Is it line 4, storage charges?


MR. KITCHEN:  The storage line is a created number based on the profile we created to do this interrogatory.  I don't have all of the background or all of the backup with me on this particular IR, but it is embedded within that storage line.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, could you undertake to update that exhibit to reflect the ADR settlement?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Can we have a number for that.


MR. SCHUCH:  Madam Chair, that will be undertaking U2.5.


UNDERTAKING NO. U2.5:  PROVIDE AN UPDATE OF EXHIBIT 
J13.33 TO REFLECT SETTLEMENT

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.


Now to Ms. DeMarco's interrogatory.  It is Exhibit J25.05.  Again, it is an impact type of interrogatory.


MR. KITCHEN:  J25?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, J25.05.


MR. KITCHEN:  I have it.


MR. THOMPSON:  So with respect to T1, she was requesting actually the rates for every customer in the class, but your response was, in A, to provide the maximum of 12 cents per gJ, a 17 percent increase; do you see that?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Then the minimum of 3 cents per gJ and an average of 6 cents per gJ.


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Could we have that response updated to reflect the settlement?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  Then with respect to ‑-


MS. NOWINA:  We will get an undertaking, Mr. Thompson. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Why don't I get all three of them on the record then we will give it one number.  

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  With respect to B, the question asked:   

Please provide the maximum rate impact and minimum rate impact of the proposed M12 changes on each of Union's M12 customers, and provide the average.”  

     In your response, you didn't really give maximum and minimum and average.  

     What you said was: 

“Firm M12 transportation customers will 

see an increase in their transportation demand charges of approximately 10.4 percent.”

Then you went on to indicate they would vary by month and so on.  

     Is there a maximum, a minimum, and an average for that 

particular question?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  The M12 transportation rate is a full fixed variable rate design.  So to the extent that you increase your -- the maximum will be the same as the minimum, as the average.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So that the demand charge for everybody is increased by 10.4 percent. 

     MR. KITCHEN:  Right.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And they can do the math. 

     MR. KITCHEN:  Almost everybody supplies their own fuel so that is trued up through the YCR. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thanks.  So if I asked you for minimum, max and average, it really wouldn't change much?  It would just reflect the load factors of the different members of M12?  Well, the higher would have a unit rate a little lower than average. 

     MR. KITCHEN:  On a unit rate basis but what they will see an increase on their bill will be 10.4 percent.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Is that okay, Ms. DeMarco?  Or do you want further detail?  

     MS. DeMARCO:  That's fine.  Thank you very much, Mr. 

Thompson.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  I'm trying to earn my fee here.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you, Madam Chair. 

     MS. NOWINA:  I can't wait to see the costs.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Is the C1 long-term firm transportation -- let's go back to the question.  

“Please provide the maximum rate impact and minimum rate impact, the proposed C1 changes on each of Union's C1 customers.  Please provide the average.”  

     Then here, you distinguish between C1 long-term firm, Dawn to Parkway, C1 long-term firm, Parkway to Dawn, and then C1 long-term firm taking service on the Ojibway and St. Clair transportation system.  

     And that is transportation; right?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  So that's essentially cost-based.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  It is like M12. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Like M12.  So these demand charge changes would apply to all customers?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  But then when we go to the next category of customers, C1 -- for all other C1 services, you negotiate rates, and then you say:   

“There are no rate impacts to customers with services at negotiated rates.”  

     Just before I get you to explain that.  There would be a minimum, average and maximum within this category:  Other C1 services, would there not?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Well, to the extent that the other C1 

services are negotiated, those rates are set based on 

negotiations.  So what we propose to change are the maximums with which we negotiate.  So there would be no impacts on their rates that they're paying today, if they have negotiated a contract.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, until it comes up for negotiation.  Is that what you’re, in essence, saying?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  That's right.  But that negotiation and the rate they will pay will be based on the market for the services at that time.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So -- 

     MR. KITCHEN:  It's not impacted by the cost-of-service 

study. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  C1 is a range rate. 

     MR. KITCHEN:  C1 interruptible transportation and C1 

storage is a range rate. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  In this rate case, the upper limit is 

increasing, I believe; is that right? 

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, to capture market opportunities.   

     MR. THOMPSON:  But to answer Ms. DeMarco's question,   can you give us the minimum, average and maximum rates currently prevailing under C1 for this "other C1 services" category?  Is that a problem?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  I don't know that I have access to that.  

You're looking for the actual rate that a customer pays?  The minimum, maximum -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  No.  Just the average.  I mean X dollars per gJ or 103 m3, whatever is convenient.  Somebody has to be at the top, in terms of -- there is somebody that will be the highest, paying the highest average rate, somebody paying the lowest, and somebody paying the average.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  I agree.  I'm just not sure where, in our information in rate design, where we would have that information, because we don't -- we don't set the market price.  We set the range. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Currently.  What is currently being paid.  Well, let me back up.  How have you forecasted in the rate case?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  That was forecast as part of the C1 margin - or C1 revenue forecast.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well -- 

     MR. KITCHEN:  I suppose I can check to see what's available, but it's not really a rate design question.  It's a question of what's -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Let's do it on a best efforts basis.  What is asked for was the minimum, average and maximum.  And based on what you have told me, I think it should be for what is currently being paid.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  But I disagree with that characterization.  What was asked for:  What's the minimum and maximum impact?  There is no impact on those customers, because they pay market-based rates.  You're asking me to provide what the actual rate is that they pay.  It's a different question than what was asked.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, Ms. DeMarco has given me license to change her question.  Anyway, that's the question.  Can you provide us with a response?  

     MR. SMITH:  Well, I'm not sure, in light of the original interrogatory response and what this issue is intended to capture, that it is an appropriate request to provide actual customer charges, where the evidence appears to be that there is no impact on existing customer rates.  I'm not sure there is any utility in providing that information.       

MS. NOWINA:  I don't understand the purpose, Mr. Thompson.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, this is where Ms. DeMarco takes over.  

     MR. SMITH:  This is where his retainer ends.  

     MS. NOWINA:  That's right.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Can we go to Ms. DeMarco.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Just before we let Ms. DeMarco -- I have one other area to cover, but I will let her speak.  

     But in terms of the other two pieces of the outstanding update, if you will, can we give that an undertaking number?      

MR. SCHUCH:  I was wondering if this is all captured under the original undertaking U2.5 or if this is something new?  Is this a new series. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  This would be update to J25.05, 

subparagraphs A -- subparagraph A.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Right.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  That's all that is outstanding, Mr. Kitchen. 

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Which would be U2.6.  The previous one was for J13.33. 

     MR. SCHUCH:  Okay.  U2.6.  

     UNDERTAKING NO. U2.6: PROVIDE UPDATE TO J25.05(A) 

     MS. NOWINA:  For the update of J25.05.  We will get clarification from Ms. DeMarco if there is more required there.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  No, Madam Chair.  So much for our attempts to be efficient.  

     MS. NOWINA:  I appreciate the attempt.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Certainly the focus and thrust of our concern was to get an update to the A portion of the interrogatory.  To the extent feasible and possible, to get an update to the B and C portion.  And those interests, I understand to be consistent with the interest of Mr. Thompson's client in getting the actual impact updates, prior to, if I might ask, final argument being made on Tuesday.  

     MR. SMITH:  Well, I think the answer is the same, that there is -- we know the impact.  Well, subject to what Mr. Kitchen has to say.  

     Sorry.  I guess we can update C.  B will be the same as I understand it. 

     MR. KITCHEN:  We would update A, B and C.  But I don't have anything -- any impacts for negotiated rates.  

     MR. SMITH:  Okay.  That's fine.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, just at the risk of being 

redundant here, I just want to be crystal clear on this point.  A asks for maximum and minimum rate impacts on customers within the T1 rate class.  

     So it is not the same as what would otherwise be in the generalized rate class impact?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  I will answer on the same basis as the IR, which is: We looked at the maximum, the minimum and the average.


MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, that would be wonderful.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Thanks.  The last area I want to question you on, Mr. Kitchen, is with respect to the delivery‑related deficiency and how that affects the charges to in‑franchise customers.


I think the appropriate starting point for this is the original filing H3, tab 1, schedule 1, page 2.


And in column C, at the bottom of the page, in line 15, we see the original revenue deficiency claim of $94.827 million.  Are you with me?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Then we move forward to the ADR agreement, which is M.1.6 in column C on page 2 at line 15.  The revenue deficiency was $24.717 million.


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  If we look at this exhibit a little more carefully, we see that the total ‑‑ if we go up to line 7, the total in‑franchise delivery‑related deficiency, at line 7, is about $58.34 -- I think that is 6 -- million.


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Which, would you take, subject to check, is about a 7.8 percent increase over current approved revenue from in‑franchise in column A of 748,706 ‑‑ $748,706,000?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  If we move over to column E, we see there a credit item of $46,085,000, which operates to reduce the deficiency being recovered from in‑franchise customers to 760-million-some-odd-thousand dollars shown in column F.


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And that item, that revenue or credit item, the 46,085,000, is the extent to which the ex‑franchise revenues, which we see at line 12 in the same column, exceeds their cost; is that right?


MR. KITCHEN:  Those are all of the transactional margins built into rates, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  If we just jump quickly back to the original filing, that item was $32.992 million.


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  So as a result of the settlement, there's been embedded in rates another $11- to $12 million on account of that revenue item?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And so just stopping there, you have a claim in the NGEIR case to ‑‑ you had a claim to recover, I think it was, about $31.4 million of this 32.992 million; right?


MR. KITCHEN:  I think those are the numbers, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  I'm sorry?


MR. KITCHEN:  I will take those numbers, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I think it is in your pre-filed evidence.  At page 4, you address the $31.4 million.


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, do I take it that that claim is now going to be considerably larger because of the settlement?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  And, actually, there is a schedule that we filed in ‑‑ I'm forgetting that number ‑‑ M1.6.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.


MR. KITCHEN:  It would be H3, tab 1, schedule 1, ADR.  It's about ‑‑


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.


MR. KITCHEN:  -- three-quarters of the way through.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Page 1?


MR. KITCHEN:  No, tab 10.  If you look at H3, tab 10, schedule 1.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right, I'm listening.  Yes.  Sorry.  So what's this telling me?  This is in this package, is it?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.


MR. KITCHEN:  The comparable schedule in the pre-filed would have shown the 31.4.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.


MR. KITCHEN:  On this schedule, if you add line 7 and 8 in column C ‑‑


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.


MR. KITCHEN:  ‑‑ you get approximately 44.


MR. THOMPSON:  44-1/2 million dollars?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's right.  That's the comparable number to the 31.4.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So if you get what you're asking for in NGEIR, 44.5 million of that amount that's showing on page 2 of H3, tab 1, schedule 1, 46.1, roughly, will go to the shareholder?


 MR. KITCHEN:  That is what would be removed from rates, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Then I just have ‑‑ I have a couple of questions about this amount.


In terms of the -‑ let me back up.  If that happens, then, the rate increase that everybody will be facing in‑franchise will be in the order of 7.8 percent?


MR. KITCHEN:  I will have to take that subject to check.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Anyway, it's the numbers I gave you previously.  What I would like to know is how the 46.1 million, shown on line 7 in your H3, tab 1, schedule 1, gets distributed to the in‑franchise rates?


What is the allocation factor that is used, and how is that amount segregated between demand and commodity charges, if it is?


MR. KITCHEN:  In general, in terms of how it is segregated, it would be largely demand charges.  In terms of how it is allocated, the primary allocator is rate base to in‑franchise rate classes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Could you undertake to just show us how much of the ‑‑ maybe it is in here, but -- if it is, fine.  If it isn't, could you undertake to show us how much of the 46,085,000 is allocated to each rate class?


MR. KITCHEN:  It is in there.  If you add up some numbers, you can get it, but I can put together a schedule that will make it a little easier.


MR. THOMPSON:  Separate it.  Thanks very much.


MR. SCHUCH:  Madam Chair, that will be undertaking U2.7.


UNDERTAKING NO. U2.7:  INDICATE HOW MUCH OF 
$46,084,000 FIGURE IS ALLOCATED TO EACH RATE CLASS

MR. THOMPSON:  Do I understand correctly all of the dollars are credited to the demand cost side of the ledger, or did I misunderstand you?  In other words, if it comes out, what is going to go up are demand charges?


MR. KITCHEN:  I would have to go through just to take a more detailed look, but, in general, we would put them to the demand charges, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right, thank you.


Finally, could you tell me, by way of undertaking, what $44.5 million translates into on ROE, assuming your 36 percent equity.


MR. SMITH:  I wonder if Mr. Thompson might be 

cross-examining to improve his position in the NGEIR proceeding, rather than in this rate case?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, maybe I am, but none of this 

information is in the NGEIR case.  So it's pretty difficult for ratepayers to get this impact analysis without raising it in this case.  

     MR. SMITH:  The material is all going to have to be filed, presumably, in that proceeding and you will have an opportunity to ask questions at that time.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, if I could support Mr. Thompson in this request and remind the Board and the parties that we specifically asked on issues day for clarification as to financial matters arising in this context that had an impact on NGEIR and the Board gave direction that should there be a financial impact, the questions were properly in the context of this case.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I'm in your hands, Madam Chair.  I don't know that it's relevant to any submissions I'm going to be making on the ultimate rate levels in this case, but it does have a bearing on this case that commences very shortly and, as I've indicated, this is the only place we can get at this information.  

     So if I'm not getting too far out of the -- 

     MR. SMITH:  I guess I just fundamentally disagree that this is the only place you can get the proceeding.  So I question the utility in giving undertakings that will have no application to this case at all, and sort of making work for Mr. Kitchen who is taking on a number of undertakings for something that is not going to form the part of argument, when I think you have an opportunity to get the information elsewhere.  That's all.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Thompson, we have the undertakings that we have.  You've asked for one more.  How far down this path are we going to go?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  That's it.  Finished.  

     MS. NOWINA:  That's it?  You're finished?  It's one more, Mr.  Smith.  

     MR. SMITH:  Well, I don't know that it's one more.  It's one more for Mr. Thompson.  

     I suppose -- we'll do it.  I'm just not sure we're going to be doing it before argument.  

     MS. NOWINA:  And that's reasonable, I think.  Mr. Smith.       

MR. THOMPSON:  I think that's fair.  Thank you very much those are my questions. 

     MR. SCHUCH:  That would be undertaking U2.8.  

     UNDERTAKING NO. U2.8:   To express $44.5 million in 
basis points on equity, assuming the 36 percent equity 
approved points on equity, assuming the 36 percent 
equity approved in the settlement  

     MS. NOWINA:  Just remind us what that one is, Mr. Thompson, the last one. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  To express 44.5 million dollars in basis points on equity, assuming the 36 percent equity approved points on equity, assuming the 36 percent equity approved in the settlement.  

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  Those are your 

questions, Mr. Thompson?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Thank you very much.  Just a moment, please.  


[Counsel confer] 

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Buonaguro, how long do you expect your cross to take?  

     MR. BUONAGURO:   It shouldn't be more than 10 to 15 

minutes.  

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We will go ahead with yours then.  

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BUONAGURO:

     MR. BUONAGURO:  My questions relate to issue 6.3, and in that regard I think they're solely for Mr. Kitchen.  

     I'm just going to initially go through some facts that I would like to establish on the record, and subject to check I would just ask you to accept them.  

     In 2001, the fixed monthly charge for both the M2 rate in the south and rate 01 in the north was $7.50.  Union applied to increase this to $10 for 2002 in the 

RP-2001-0029 proceeding.  But agreed to phase in the $2.50 monthly I crease over two years at the ADR.  

     The Board accepted the settlement agreement and so the fixed monthly charge was $8.75 in 2002.  And $10.00 in 2003. 

     For 2004 rates, in the RP-2003-0063 proceeding, Union 

applied to increase the charge to $14.00 per month.  Union's evidence was that the then prevailing $10 charge only recovered 41 percent of customer related costs in the south and 64 percent in the north.  Whereas an increase to $14 per month would increase the recovery of 

customer-related costs through fixed charges to 50 percent in the month and 90 percent in the north.  The Board approved an increase to $12 for 2004, and an increase to $14 in 2005, which is where we are today.     

     In this proceeding, and it's indicated at page 14 of 27 in Exhibit H1, tab 1, Union states that the current $14 fixed monthly charge recovers only 60 percent of 

Customer-related costs in the south, and 46 percent of customer-related costs in the north.  

     The proposed to increase the charge to $16 for 2007 would raise these recoveries of customer-related costs through fixed charges to 69 percent in the south and 53 percent in the north.  

     Our understanding is that the reason, the evidence in this proceed I am regarding the recovery of customer related charges appears to conflict with the 2004 charges in terms of the percentage that is being recovered, in particular, 90 percent in the north is now fallen to 69 percent – sorry, 53 percent in the north, is because there was a Board directive in the 2004 decision in which Union has reclassify costs previously not considered customer related, as customer related in the current evidence.  

That's my little summary of the history of the fixed 

charge over the last few years.  I would just ask Mr. Kitchen if he could confirm that, subject to checking that, that sort of history.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  I actually didn't quite catch just your last statement.  

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, the last point, in the 2004 rate case the percentages of recovery for the two zones were -- after the increase, were supposed to be 69 percent in the south and 53 percent – sorry, 57 percent in the south and 90 percent in the north.  But in the current rate case, it is argued that those have fallen to 69 percent in the south and 53 percent in the north.  

     Our understanding is the reason that that change has 

happened is because the Board directed reclassification of costs with respect to customer-related costs and that's why there is a change.  So the starkest one, in the north, after the $14 charge was implemented, customer-related -- fixed charges was to recover 90 percent of the northern charges.  Now, because of the reclassification pursuant to 2004, the recovery is now considered to be only 53 percent.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  I accept your rendition of the history.  Just a clarification.  I think the Board's directive was to review the cost-allocation methodologies for purposes of harmonizing those methodologies.  And in doing so we moved to the northern methodology which classified services from demand-related to customer-related which is how they have been classified traditionally in the south.  

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I would also ask you to accept, subject to check, that in going from a monthly charge of $7.50 in 2001 to $16 in 2007, within those six years, the monthly charge will have A, more than doubled; B, that this increase, subject to check, is what would arise – sorry, is an increase of 13.46 percent average annual increase.  So between 2001 and the proposed 2007, the fixed charge has gone up an average of 13.46 percent.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  I just want to make sure I understand what I'm taking subject to check.  

     Are you simply taking the increase in the monthly customer charge, $16 over 7.50 and dividing by the number of years to get 13 -- 

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, I think so, average annual increase.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  It will have gone from $7.50 to $16 and that would be an average increase of approximately 13 percent.  I will take that subject to check.  

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, would you be able to 

provide the total delivery charges -- not including commodity or upstream transportation -- of an M2 customer consuming, one, 2300 cubic metres per year; two, 2600 cubic meters per year; and three, 2900 cubic metres per year, which is a three I guess break levels that are included in your impact statement in the evidence.    

     For 2001 under the approved rates and affecting 2001 for the rate 1 and for the M2 classes?  Basically, you have a chart in your evidence that shows what the delivery charges for the delivery charges for customers under the $16.  We want to compare it to what it was in 2001 to show how much the delivery charge portion, for these three classes of customer, have gone up over the last six, seven years.


MR. KITCHEN:  The short answer is "yes".  The longer answer is I think we filed that in the past when we've gone for other increases, but I can undertake to provide that, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.


MR. SCHUCH:  That would be undertaking U2.9.


UNDERTAKING NO. U2.9:  COMPARE CHART OF DELIVERY RATES 
TO 2001 FOR THREE CLASSES OF CUSTOMERS

 MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, when we are talking about customer‑related costs, could you give a description of what that encapsulates?


MR. KITCHEN:  Customer‑related costs are costs that do not vary with capacity or throughput, so they are the costs of the customer essentially connecting to the system.  They will include the cost of the meter, the service, regulators.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I have an example I would like you to either confirm or deny.  Supposing that Union is classified as customer‑related costs ‑‑ I think your earlier evidence was $21.50, or something along those lines for an existing M2; is that correct?


MR. KITCHEN:  Sorry.


MR. BUONAGURO:  If it were of 100 percent recovery --


MR. KITCHEN:  It would be approximately $22.


MR. BUONAGURO:  $22.  Which means that to recover 100 percent of those charges, you would charge $22 per month on a fixed charge; right?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Would you agree that if a current Union customer ceases to be a Union customer, your customer-related costs will not decrease by $23 per month when they cease to be customers?  Sorry, let's say I lived in your area and you're charging me the full cost of my customer-related charges, and my house gets demolished and I stop taking service at that location.  Does Union's customer-related charge of ‑‑ that's allocated to me of $23 per month vanish, or do you still need to recover that?


MR. KITCHEN:  I guess I'm a bit confused about the question.  To the extent that we have a premise that is being served by Union, whether you're in that premise or someone else is in the premise, we would want to recover the costs associated with that.  It is a postage stamp rate.


If one premise disappeared, I'm not sure it would have a material impact on the overall allocation of customer-related costs.  We would have one less customer to recover them, but we're talking about a million customers paying a monthly customer charge.  So I am not sure I am following.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I think your answer maybe helped me.  Are you saying that there is a presumption that even if a particular customer ceases to be a customer, someone takes their place almost automatically, because the premise ‑‑ 


MR. KITCHEN:  To the extent that a customer leaves the franchise, I'm assuming that someone else would move into that premise, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  Would you agree that increasing the fixed charge while decreasing the volumetric charges to maintain revenue neutrality at the rate class level adversely affects low-volume residential users and benefits high-volume residential users?


MR. KITCHEN:  I can't accept the characterization of adversely affecting.


There is an increase to lower volume users and a decrease to higher volume users, because what we're doing is reducing the inter-class subsidy that large users currently provide low users, low‑volume users.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you tell me if Union has a desired end state with respect to the recovery of customer-related costs through fixed monthly charges in the M2 and rate 1 customer base?


MR. KITCHEN:  I may have dealt a bit with that question with Mr. Warren.  In my mind, any increase to the customer charge that reduces inter-class subsidies is ‑‑ and is supported by cost allocation results is an appropriate measure.


I don't have a target.  However, I don't think it is unreasonable to continue to increase the monthly customer charge; although albeit not in this proceeding, in some other proceeding.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Is there a target of 100 percent?  Is there a target at all?


MR. KITCHEN:  I don't have a target.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, in addition to these questions, I actually submitted a couple of questions by e‑mail yesterday evening, because one of them asks for an example.  I understand that you would have received those questions?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Perhaps just for the record, I will read out the questions, and then ask you to answer them, if you can.


The first question:  Table 7 in Exhibit H1, T1 shows the impacts on the residential customers of various sizes, 2,300, 2,600, and 2,900 metres cubed per year.


In Union's southern operations area, of Union's proposed fixed monthly charge increase from $14 to $16, along with the proposed volumetric block redesign that makes the changes neutral to rate class level, would it be possible to increase the fixed monthly charge from $14 to $16 as proposed, and reduce the rates in the first three volumetric blocks, such that, first, the typical residential customer consuming approximately 2,600 metres cubed per year will be neutral with respect to the changes; and, two, appropriate block differentials will be maintained for 2007?


MR. KITCHEN:  There are two parts to the answer.  The first part of the answer is that in Union south, to actually keep a residential customer consuming 2,600 cubic metres neutral, you would actually need to reduce the first block rate by more than the change or the additional revenue from the customer charge, which means in order to be neutral for the rate class, you would actually have to increase the charges to the remaining blocks.


So it's not possible to keep a customer consuming 2,600 cubic metres neutral by reducing the first three blocks.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I don't think I quite understand.  At a general level, it seems intuitive that you could keep the 2,600 person neutral by decreasing the decrease to the customers higher and increasing ‑‑ sorry.  Well, that's how you would do it.  You would decrease the decrease to the customers above 2,600, and that that could be done mathematically.


MR. KITCHEN:  Mathematically what happens is, in order to get a customer -- because that 2,600 cubic metre customer is entirely within the first block, you have to ensure that they're neutral first.  To do that, you need larger revenue reduction than you do a revenue increase from the monthly customer charge.


So in order to be neutral on the class, you actually have to offset that by increasing other block rates.  So what, in effect, you do is you greatly reduce any inter-block differences in price.  Basically, you flatten your block structure.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Are you saying it is not possible to do ‑‑ it's possible to do technically, but ‑‑


MR. KITCHEN:  It's mathematically possible, but it is ‑- what I struggle with is, How do you deal with the fact that you have to increase the block rate at a higher block?  You're trying to unwind an inter-class subsidy.  To my mind, you reduce that effect if you increase the block to increase the rate to a higher block of customers.


The other issue, and I think I need to make this clear, is we have taken a very mechanical approach to how we're reducing the commodity charges.  We are effectively taking whatever the increase in the monthly customer charge revenue and reducing the volumetric blocks by allocating that to the blocks based on revenue.  It's mechanical.  There's no discretion.


The other thing I think we need to keep in mind is that for a customer at 2,600 cubic metres in the south, we're talking about a $6.50 increase, which is about 51, 52 cents a month.  In the north, it is actually around 25 cents a month.  I don't view ‑‑ those changes are so close to zero that I'm not sure we're already at revenue neutral at that point.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think part of the concern - there's no evidence on the record on this and so if you disagree with me, feel free - that when, in the past fixed monthly charges have increased and notice is given to the customer, for the most part I think the notice says that the increase in the fixed monthly charge is revenue neutral or is neutral to the customer.  It's not going to impact their bill.  

     I guess assuming that that is the case in this case, that's the notice that will ago along with this particular increase if it passes or if the Board approves it, is that the average customer will, in fact, suffer an increase in their yearly and annual bill.  But I may have that first part wrong.  

     If you have any information on that …

     MR. KITCHEN:  I'm not.  I don't have a notice obviously in front of me.  I'm not sure -- I know that we haven't been neutral to a customer consuming 2600 cubic metres at least in the south, when we start increasing the customer charge in 0063 case.  So I doubt very much we would say it was neutral.  In the north I believe it was neutral.  

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Well, I take it from your answer that you're not -- you're saying you can't provide me with an example of a redesign of the block structure that would make 26 neutral, that could arguably be appropriate?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Not that I would consider appropriate, no.  Mechanically, mathematically you can do a lot of things with rate design, but I don't think it is appropriate to reduce one block by more than what you’re increasing the customer charge, only to increase another block to ensure that a particular group of customers is neutral.  

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I am just going to -- I had a second part to the question.  I think maybe you can't answer it because you're not -- you can't do the block redesign.  But I will just illustrate it because it was already sent to you by e-mail and for the record.  

     The second part of the question was what the impact would be on a block redesign if the M1/M2 split -- or if the M1/M2 split went through.  

     Maybe in a general sense you can tell me how the fixed 

charge increase in 2007 is impacted or not impacted or has any effect on the split in M1, M2 in 2008.  Or is affected by the split in 2008 if it goes through, or I guess in it doesn't go through.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  The -- in our evidence, we're proposing to increase the monthly customer charge effective January 1st, 2007.  So it has no impact on the split of M1, M2.  That's already happened by the time we get there.  

     In terms of how it would affect the blocking or the block rates, we really did take a fairly independent approach.  We didn't -- one doesn't rely on the other.  

     In setting the rate for M1, what we do do, is we try to set the block 2 rate to be equal to the -- to keep the average customer within the class paying their appropriate level of cost.  So that's the second block rate which -- then the other blocks are set to ensure a smooth continuum between the rate classes.       

But the short answer is there wouldn't be any impact on the M2, M1/M2 split as a result of the -- your question 1.  

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Thank you.  Those are my 

questions.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  I want to go back to the issue of Mr. Thompson's undertaking and undertakings and the fact that some of them may not be used for argument in this case.  

     The undertakings have been taken -- I think the applicant has been very generous with offering to meet the undertakings.  

     I do want to get a sense from others who might ask 

questions tomorrow, whether or not you have a similar request for undertakings.  And if you do, we'll have to consider whether it is appropriate to have those, in fairness, plus Mr. Thompson's.  So if anyone has those plans I would like to know it now, so the panel can consider that overnight and people will be prepared to 

make submissions on it.  

     No one else?  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Well, I will leap in and say the company's volunteered to provide responses to undertakings that have been given, apart from the context of Mr. Thompson's by the end of the evidentiary portion, which,   from the appearance, is tomorrow.  

     Any slippage in that could have a material effect on being able to prepare for argument on Tuesday, which is quite aggressive schedule for both sides of the coin to prepare argument, especially if we're going to use the undertaking responses to make calculations as part of their final argument submissions.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  I wasn't referring to information that would be helpful for argument.  Referring to other information.  But may be needed for other proceedings.       So I hear no response, there won't be any further.  I 

appreciate the company's generosity again in providing those undertakings and we will leave it at that.  

     We will now adjourn for the day and resume tomorrow morning at 9 o'clock.  

     --- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:30 p.m.
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